

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Advances in Mathematics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/aim



Applications of the landscape function for Schrödinger operators with singular potentials and irregular magnetic fields [☆]



Bruno Poggi^{a,b}

ARTICLE INFO

Article history:
Received 3 March 2022
Received in revised form 21 March 2024
Accepted 2 April 2024
Available online 19 April 2024
Communicated by C. Fefferman

Keywords: Landscape function Magnetic Schrödinger operator Spectral theory Weyl's law Schrödinger operator Eigenvalue counting

ABSTRACT

We resolve both a conjecture and a problem of Z. Shen from the 90's regarding non-asymptotic bounds on the eigenvalue counting function of the magnetic Schrödinger operator $L_{\mathbf{a},V} = -(\nabla - i\mathbf{a})^2 + V$ with a singular or irregular magnetic field ${\bf B}$ on $\mathbb{R}^n,\ n\ \geq\ 3.$ We do this by constructing a new landscape function for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$, and proving its corresponding uncertainty principle, under certain directionality assumptions on ${\bf B}$, but with no assumption on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$. These results arise as applications of our study of the Filoche-Mayboroda landscape function u, a solution to the equation $L_V u = -\operatorname{div} A \nabla u + V u = 1$, on unbounded Lipschitz domains in \mathbb{R}^n , $n \geq 1$, and $0 \leq V \in L^1_{loc}$, under a mild decay condition on the Green's function. For L_V , we prove a priori exponential decay of Green's function, eigenfunctions, and Lax-Milgram solutions in an Agmon distance with weight 1/u, which may degenerate. Similar a priori results hold for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$. Furthermore, when $n \geq 3$ and V satisfies a scale-invariant Kato condition and a weak doubling

E-mail address: brunopoggi@pitt.edu.

a Departament de Matemàtiques, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Bellaterra, Catalonia, Spain

^b Department of Mathematics, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, United States

^{\(\phi\)} The results in this article were obtained while the author was partly supported by the University of Minnesota Doctoral Dissertation Fellowship, the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement 101018680), the Agencia de Gestión de Ayudas Universitarias y de Investigación (grant number 2021-SGR-00071), the Simons Foundation Simons Collaborations in MPS 563916-SM, the NSF DMS grant 1344235, and the NSF DMS grant DMS-1839077. The author would like to thank Professor S. Mayboroda for many insightful and inspiring conversations.

property, we show that $1/\sqrt{u}$ is pointwise equivalent to the Fefferman-Phong-Shen maximal function $m(\cdot,V)$ (also known as Shen's critical radius function); in particular this gives a setting where the Agmon distance with weight 1/u is not too degenerate. Finally, we extend results from the literature for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ regarding exponential decay of the fundamental solution and eigenfunctions, to the situation of irregular magnetic fields with directionality assumptions.

© 2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 2 |
|-------|---|----|
| 2. | Main results | 8 |
| | 2.1. Main results for the Schrödinger operator $-\operatorname{div} A\nabla + V$ | 8 |
| | 2.2. Directionality assumptions on the magnetic field | 15 |
| | 2.3. Main results for the magnetic Schrödinger operator $-(\nabla - i\mathbf{a})^2 + V \dots$ | 19 |
| 3. | The landscape function on unbounded domains | 23 |
| | 3.1. Preliminaries | 23 |
| | 3.2. Construction of the landscape function and the uncertainty principle | 26 |
| 4. | A priori exponential decay results for $-\operatorname{div} A\nabla + V$ | 32 |
| 5. | Comparison to the Fefferman-Phong-Shen maximal function | 38 |
| 6. | Applications to the magnetic Schrödinger operator | 40 |
| | 6.1. The uncertainty principle for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ and a priori exponential decay results | 40 |
| | 6.2. The solutions to Shen's problems, and other corollaries | 44 |
| | 6.3. An uncertainty principle for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ with a good transition region | 48 |
| Appe | endix A. Existence of Green's function as an integral kernel | 50 |
| Refer | rences | 51 |
| | | |

1. Introduction

In the present paper, we investigate the link between the Filoche-Mayboroda landscape function for the Dirichlet problem and the exponential decay of solutions to Schrödinger operators

$$L = -\operatorname{div} A\nabla + V \tag{1.1}$$

on a (possibly unbounded) domain $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$, $n \ge 1$, with non-negative potentials $V \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ and $A = (A_{ij})$ a (not necessarily symmetric) matrix of bounded measurable coefficients on Ω satisfying the uniform ellipticity condition

$$\lambda |\xi|^2 \le \sum_{i,j=1}^n A_{ij}(x)\xi_i\xi_j, \qquad ||A||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le \frac{1}{\lambda}, \quad x \in \Omega, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
 (1.2)

for some $\lambda \in (0, 1)$. Here, the landscape function is the solution u to the problem Lu = 1 with Dirichlet boundary conditions. A part of this story (with Neumann boundary conditions) was already considered for eigenfunctions in [5], and partly our goal here will be

to further study the exponential decay as it pertains to Lax-Milgram solutions, Dirichlet eigenfunctions, and Green's functions (Theorems 2.2, 2.5, 2.3), while also removing the boundedness assumption on V and on the domain. We will show that, under a mild decay condition on the Green's function, a landscape function exists over unbounded domains (Theorem 2.1), and that it can be used to study a priori exponential decay of the Green's function. Moreover, we will show that, under natural assumptions, an appropriate power of this landscape function is pointwise equivalent to the Fefferman-Phong-Shen maximal function

$$\frac{1}{m(x,V)} := \sup \left\{ r : \frac{1}{r^{n-2}} \int_{B(x,r)} V(y) \, dy \le C_1 \right\},\tag{1.3}$$

which is a tool that has been used to study many related properties of the Schrödinger operators, indicating that the landscape function is in some sense both a generalization and a regularization of this maximal function (Theorem 2.7). In particular, in this setting u satisfies certain interesting properties (Corollary 2.10) such as a strong scale-invariant Harnack inequality. Finally, we will apply these results to exhibit the existence of a new landscape function (Theorem 2.12) related to the magnetic Schrödinger operator

$$L_{\mathbf{a},V} = -(\nabla - i\mathbf{a})^2 + V,\tag{1.4}$$

and we will use this landscape function to also obtain a priori exponential decay for this operator, and recover many results (see Theorem 2.16, Corollary 2.18 and Section 6.2) under directionality assumptions (Section 2.2) on the *magnetic field*

$$\mathbf{B}(x) := \operatorname{curl} \mathbf{a}(x) = (b_{jk}(x))_{1 \le j,k \le n} = \left(\frac{\partial a_j(x)}{\partial x_k} - \frac{\partial a_k(x)}{\partial x_j}\right)_{1 \le j,k \le n}, \tag{1.5}$$

which in particular allow for non-positive singular potentials V and completely relax usual conditions on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$ found in related literature, solving a conjecture (Conjecture 1.1) and an open problem (Problem 1.2) of Zhongwei Shen from the 90's in the process.

Before precisely stating our main results in Sections 2.1 and 2.3, let us provide the appropriate historical context and define the meaningful notions.

In 2012, a simple but remarkably versatile tool was introduced by Filoche and Mayboroda [33,34] to study the localization of eigenfunctions of Schrödinger operators. For the Schrödinger operator $L = -\Delta + V$, they considered a solution u to the equation Lu = 1, and showed that this function predicts the shape and location of localized low energy eigenfunctions of L whose localization is caused either by the disorder of the potential or the geometry of the underlying domain. This solution has come to be known as the landscape function, and over the last decade it has seen numerous appearances in mathematics [3–5,17,25,61,84,85,88], and theoretical and experimental physics [16,26,36,57,59], mainly concerning the study of the spectrum and eigenfunctions of Schrödinger operators acting under a disordered potential. In particular, it has yielded striking new results in the study of Anderson localization [5], and a substantial

improvement over the Weyl law [25], for Schrödinger operators, although the numerical evidence [4] suggests that the proven results so far capture only a fraction of its predictive power. The concept of the landscape function has been used effectively to study Anderson-type localization for Schrödinger operators on quantum graphs [42], for the tight binding model [3], for the case of many-body localization [10], and even for random M-matrices [35].

The power of the landscape function u to give so many mathematical and numerical results concerning Anderson localization (that is, localization of eigenfunctions via potentials that exhibit randomness) has been referred to as "almost magical" [35], because even though the landscape function is defined using a deterministic right-hand side, it nonetheless can be used to study the effects of randomness on eigenfunctions. Moreover, the mathematical results [5] regarding the exponential decay of eigenfunctions for the Schrödinger operators with random potentials are phrased in terms of decayin an Agmon distance with weight $\frac{1}{u}$; more precisely, for the Schrödinger operator $-\Delta + V$ in a domain Ω the Agmon distance with weight $\frac{1}{u}$ is the distance ρ for the degenerate Riemannian metric $ds^2 = \frac{1}{u} dx^2$, given by

$$\rho(x, y, 1/u) := \inf_{\gamma} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{1}{\sqrt{u(\gamma(t))}} |\gamma'(t)| dt, \qquad x, y \in \Omega,$$

$$(1.6)$$

where $\gamma:[0,1]\to\Omega$ is absolutely continuous, with $\gamma(0)=x$ and $\gamma(1)=y$. However, the relationship of this Agmon distance with the Euclidean distance has not been studied, and there may be no link when V is too degenerate (that is, too close to 0 too often). For instance, if the potential V is 0 outside of a small ball, then the Agmon distance with weight 1/u (with Neumann boundary conditions) between any two points $x,y\in\Omega$ is bounded above by a uniform constant regardless of how large |x-y| is. Nevertheless, the numerical results predict localization in the Euclidean sense when the potential is random. We might expect that, at least in some classical cases where the potential V is not random, not degenerate, and has some regularity, we should be able to connect the Agmon distance with weight 1/u (1.6) to the Euclidean distance.

A classical setting which has been studied extensively for its connection to harmonic analysis is the case of non-negative potentials V in dimension $n \geq 3$ which satisfy the reverse Hölder inequality

$$\left(\int_{B} V^{\frac{n}{2}}\right)^{\frac{2}{n}} \lesssim \int_{B} V, \quad \text{for all balls } B.$$
 (1.7)

Such functions are said to belong to the space $RH_{n/2}$, and the best constant in (1.7) is the $RH_{n/2}$ characteristic of V. Examples of potentials in $RH_{n/2}$ include, for instance, all non-negative polynomials, and the functions $|x|^{\alpha}$ with $\alpha > -2$, while non-examples are certain potentials given by random Bernoulli variables, and also exponentially decaying

potentials. In the setting when (1.7) holds, Z. Shen [74] proved that the operators $\nabla(-\Delta + V)^{-1/2}$, $(-\Delta + V)^{-1/2}\nabla$, and $\nabla(-\Delta + V)^{-1}\nabla$ are bounded in L^p , extending similar L^p estimates for non-negative polynomials of [89]. A key idea to prove these results is to first show that the fundamental solution Γ of the operator $-\Delta + V$ has polynomial decay of sufficiently large degree. In order to do this, Shen [73] defined the function m(x, w) (which has come to be known as the Fefferman-Phong-Shen maximal function, or the critical radius function), given by (1.3) which generalizes a smooth weight function suited to work with non-negative polynomials [43,44,82,89], and proved the following variant of the Fefferman-Phong uncertainty principle [32]

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} m^2(x, V) f^2(x) \, dx \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[|\nabla f(x)|^2 + V(x) f^2(x) \right] dx, \quad \text{for all } f \in C_c^1(\mathbb{R}^n). \quad (1.8)$$

The estimate (1.8) was used in [73,74] to show the required polynomial decay of the fundamental solution. On the other hand, when n=2, M. Christ [18] showed that the fundamental solution for the operator $-\Delta + V$ under certain related assumptions satisfies quite sharp exponential decay estimates. The sharp exponential decay estimates for the fundamental solution in $n \geq 3$ were later obtained in [79] in terms of the Agmon distance $\rho(x, y, m^2)$, defined as in (1.6) with m^2 instead of 1/u. Thus, in the case when $n \geq 3$ and $V \geq 0$ satisfies (1.7), Z. Shen proved the existence of positive constants C, ε_1 , and ε_2 , such that

$$\frac{1}{C|x-y|^{n-2}}e^{-\varepsilon_1\rho(x,y,m^2)}\leq \Gamma(x,y)\leq \frac{C}{|x-y|^{n-2}}e^{-\varepsilon_2\rho(x,y,m^2)},\quad \text{for all } x,y\in\mathbb{R}^n, x\neq y,$$

with the help of the uncertainty principle (1.8) and an Agmon-type argument [1]. This sharp exponential decay result would later be extended by S. Mayboroda and the author of this article to encompass the case of Schrödinger operators $-\operatorname{div} A\nabla + V$ with A an elliptic, not necessarily symmetric matrix of bounded measurable coefficients [62].

In addition to the exponential decay of fundamental solutions [62,79] and the L^p estimates for Schrödinger operators [6,74], the function m (or very similar ideas stemming from the Fefferman-Phong inequality) has also been used to study the Neumann problem for the Schrödinger operator $-\Delta + V$ [64,73], bounds on the eigenvalue counting function [75,77,78], heat kernels [54], and several analogous results concerning the magnetic Schrödinger operator $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ for $n \geq 3$ [12,13,54–56,62,75–77]. For these results on $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$, the authors consider the function $m(x, |\mathbf{B}| + V)$ where

$$|\mathbf{B}|(x) := \sum_{j < k} |b_{jk}(x)|, \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

and they naturally assume that $|\mathbf{B}| + V$ satisfies (1.7), to ensure that $m(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}| + V)$ has nice properties. However, in order to prove an uncertainty principle for the magnetic case, the following rather strong assumption is made on the gradient of the magnetic field

$$|\nabla \mathbf{B}(x)| \lesssim m(x, |\mathbf{B}| + V)^3,\tag{1.9}$$

on all of the aforementioned works. When V is not identically 0, (1.9) has often appeared [12,56,62,76] alongside a strong condition on the size of V:

$$V(x) \lesssim m(x, |\mathbf{B}| + V)^2. \tag{1.10}$$

Observe that under assumption (1.7) for $|\mathbf{B}| + V$, (1.9) implies in particular that the components of \mathbf{B} are locally Lipschitz continuous. It is more natural [12,76] to assume (1.9) when one is interested in L^p estimates of associated Riesz transforms, for large p, since one often needs pointwise bounds for gradients of solutions. However, it would be desirable to dispose of (1.9) when studying questions about the spectrum of $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$. Shen remarked [77, Remark 0.17] that for $n \geq 3$, some condition on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$ seemed to be necessary to prove a bound on the number of negative eigenvalues of a magnetic Schrödinger operator with a potential V with non-trivial negative part, but that (1.9) was more restrictive than one would hope.

Conjecture 1.1 (Shen's conjecture [77]). For $n \geq 3$, some condition on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$ is necessary to prove Theorem 0.11 of [77].

However, in the case of n=2, Z. Shen [78] studied lower and upper bounds for the dimension of the spectral projection of $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ on an interval $[0,\tau)$, $\tau>0$, under the milder conditions that **B** (in this two-dimensional case, given by a single function b_{12}) satisfies a reverse Hölder inequality and that

$$b_{12}$$
 does not change sign over \mathbb{R}^2 . (1.11)

(The assumptions on **B** in [78] are quite more general than stated here.) The main result of [78] depends primarily on its Main Lemma [78, p.481], which is an uncertainty principle whose idea was suggested to Z. Shen by C. Fefferman, but the argument worked only in the two-dimensional case. The challenge of extending the ideas of [78] to study the analogous problem in higher dimensions was asked by Shen in that same article [78, p. 486], but it has remained open. Let us give a precise statement of the problem that we will consider.

Problem 1.2 (Shen's problem [78]). For $n \geq 3$, recover the conclusion of [78, Main Theorem] without assuming (1.9); instead, impose an assumption on **B** that extends, in some sense, the conditions of [78] in the two-dimensional setting.

¹ We point out that in [13], the author does not assume (1.9), but still assumes a pointwise estimate on the gradient of the magnetic field.

The magnetic Schrödinger operator on \mathbb{R}^n only makes sense for $n \geq 2$, due to the gauge invariance.

The question of relaxing the scale-invariant condition (1.9) when studying the eigenvalue counting function of $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ was also asked by S. Mayboroda,³ and is of importance in the case of irregular magnetic fields. In Section 2.3, we will use a new landscape function for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ to show that, for $n \geq 3$, and under favored directionality assumptions (Section 2.2) that in some sense generalize the sign condition (1.11), no assumption on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$ is necessary (not even merely its existence as a locally integrable function) to study several properties of magnetic Schrödinger operators, and in particular, recover the conclusions of [77, Theorem 0.11] and [78, Main Theorem]. We will provide an explicit counterexample (Example 2.11) to Conjecture 1.1, and we will give a solution to Problem 1.2 (see Section 6.2). Moreover, we will not assume any quantitative regularity of the magnetic field (not even $|\mathbf{B}| \in RH_{n/2}$) when stating our a priori Agmon-type results on the exponential decay of eigenfunctions and Lax-Milgram solutions for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$, so that these results hold true also for magnetic fields exhibiting random features.

Let us circle back to the Filoche-Mayboroda landscape function u, which solves the equation $-\operatorname{div} A\nabla u + Vu = 1$. As in the case of the maximal function m, an uncertainty principle for u akin to (1.8) may also be devised, which is in fact quite stronger. In [5], the following integral identity was shown

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[A \nabla f \nabla f + V f^2 \right] = \int_{\Omega} \left[u^2 A \nabla (f/u) \nabla (f/u) + \frac{1}{u} f^2 \right], \qquad f \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega), \tag{1.12}$$

for a bounded domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $n \geq 3$, with Neumann boundary conditions, symmetric A, and $V \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Observe that (1.12) readily implies the uncertainty principle

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} f^2 \le \int_{\Omega} \left[A \nabla f \nabla f + V f^2 \right], \tag{1.13}$$

which ought to be compared to (1.8). As such, it is not surprising that (1.13) was used along with an Agmon argument to give the exponential decay of eigenfunctions to L on Ω , with respect to the Agmon distance with weight 1/u (1.6). On the other hand, if V also satisfied the reverse Hölder inequality (1.7), then we may alternatively give the exponential decay of eigenfunctions with an Agmon distance with weight $m^2(\cdot, V)$. It is thus natural to wonder, if there is any relationship between the landscape function u and the Fefferman-Phong-Shen maximal function m, at least in the cases when the latter makes sense. A main result of our paper, which is at the heart of this investigation, is that such a relationship does exist (see Theorem 2.7).

To end this preliminary discussion, let us mention that finding a landscape function for the magnetic Schrödinger operator has remained an open question, and is of independent interest. Main difficulties have been that solutions to $L_{\mathbf{a},V}u=f$ are generally complex-valued, and that the algebra of the equation has not been favorable towards finding

³ Private communication.

an analogous conjugation (1.12) that would yield a useful uncertainty principle (1.13). In Section 2.3, we exhibit a new candidate for a landscape function for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$, which as we will see, has many a priori properties similar to those of the landscape function of Filoche-Mayboroda.

2. Main results

2.1. Main results for the Schrödinger operator – div $A\nabla + V$

Given an open, connected set $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $n \geq 1$, with (possibly empty) Lipschitz boundary, we let $0 \leq V \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ with $\int_{\Omega} V > 0$, and $G = G_{\Omega}$ be the Green's function for the operator L on Ω with 0 Dirichlet boundary conditions (see Section 3.1). Under our very mild assumptions on V, the Green's function may not exist as a distributional solution to the equation $LG(x,\cdot) = \delta_x$ in Ω [14,71], but it always exists as a non-negative integral kernel of the (homogeneous) operator L^{-1} (see Appendix A).

When Ω is bounded, the landscape function may be easily taken as the Lax-Milgram solution $L^{-1}\mathbbm{1}_{\Omega}$ (see Section 3.1 for the definition of L^{-1}), but this approach does not work on unbounded domains. We are interested in the unbounded case because later it will allow us to connect the landscape function to the maximal function m on $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$, which is critical to our main results for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$. The first main result of our paper is to establish that the existence of a landscape function over unbounded domains is equivalent to a mild decay assumption on the Green's function. If this decay condition holds, then we show that, even though in our setting the zero-set of u in the interior of Ω may not be trivial, and even though it may not be true that $\frac{1}{u} \in L^{\infty}_{\mathrm{loc}}(\Omega)$, nevertheless, the uncertainty principle (1.13) remains valid.

Theorem 2.1 (A landscape function over unbounded domains). Let $n \geq 1$, let $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ be an open connected set, with empty or Lipschitz (n-1)-dimensional boundary, let A be a not necessarily symmetric matrix of bounded measurable coefficients on Ω satisfying the uniform ellipticity condition (1.2), and $0 \leq V \in L^1_{loc}(\overline{\Omega})$ satisfies $\int_{\Omega} V > 0$. Denote $L = -\operatorname{div} A\nabla + V$. The following statements hold.

(i) Fix $x_0 \in \Omega$ and for each $R \in \mathbb{N}$, let $\Omega_R := \Omega \cap B(x_0, R)$. Consider the landscape function $u_R := L_{\Omega_R}^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\Omega_R}$ on the domain Ω_R with zero Dirichlet boundary conditions, and extend it by 0 on $\Omega \setminus \Omega_R$. Then the sequence $\{u_R\}_{R=1}^{\infty}$ is pointwise non-decreasing, and the limit

$$u := \limsup_{R \to \infty} u_R \tag{2.1}$$

⁴ The non-negativity of G follows essentially from the non-degeneracy condition $\int_{\Omega} V > 0$.

exists as a measurable non-negative function on Ω (whose values may be $+\infty$ everywhere).

(ii) The function u of (i) satisfies that $u \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega) \cap L^2_{loc}(\Omega, V dx)$ and solves the equation Lu = 1 in the weak sense in Ω (see Definition 3.1) if and only if there exists q > 0 such that

$$\int_{\Omega} G_{\Omega}(x,y) \, dy \in L^{q}_{loc}(\Omega, \, dx). \tag{2.2}$$

(iii) If (2.2) holds, then we call u the landscape function for L on Ω (with zero Dirichlet boundary conditions), and moreover, we have that $u = \int_{\Omega} G(\cdot, y) dy$ a.e. on Ω , and the uncertainty principle

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} f^2 \le \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{\lambda^4} A \nabla f \nabla f + \int_{\Omega} V f^2 \tag{2.3}$$

holds for each $f \in \mathfrak{D}(\Omega)$.⁵ In particular, $\frac{1}{u} \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ and $\nabla \log(u) \in L^2_{loc}(\Omega)$. Furthermore, if A is symmetric, then for each $f \in \mathfrak{D}(\Omega)$, we have the stronger uncertainty principle

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} f^2 + \int_{\Omega} u^2 A \nabla(f/u) \nabla(f/u) \le \int_{\Omega} A \nabla f \nabla f + \int_{\Omega} V f^2.$$
 (2.4)

Of course, if Ω is bounded, then (2.2) holds by (A.1). In the case of unbounded Ω , the estimate (2.2) is a very mild decay condition on the Green's function, which implies some non-degeneracy of V at infinity. Indeed, if V=0 outside of a bounded set in \mathbb{R}^n and $V \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, then (2.2) is not satisfied, and the limit in (2.1) is $+\infty$ everywhere on \mathbb{R}^n . On the other hand, for $n \geq 3$, $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$, and for V satisfying (1.7), then (2.2) is known to hold, by virtue of the exponential decay results of the fundamental solution [62,79].

In fact, when $A \equiv I$, the assumptions on V allow for the existence of a universal zero-set $Z \subset \Omega$ such that every weak solution of Lu = f, $f \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ vanishes on Z [69, Examples 1.1-1.4], so that the strong maximum principle does not hold in our generality. In particular, the landscape function that we construct may not be continuous, and is forced to take the value 0 at points in the interior of Ω where V is highly singular [69, Theorem 1.1 and Corollary 1.2]; both of these properties differ substantially from the setting of [5]. Still, motivations to consider such singular V include that, by the weak maximum principle we should expect more exponential decay of solutions when V is

⁵ See Section 3.1 for the definition of the space $\mathfrak{D}(\Omega)$.

⁶ The results in [62] are shown under stronger hypotheses, but it is an easy exercise to see that they extend to the Shen potentials, following [79].

higher, and we should expect that the landscape function can still quantify this decay; and also, L^1_{loc} is the minimal condition that can be imposed on a measurable function so that the bilinear form induced by L acts on smooth compactly supported functions.

We remark that the continuity of the landscape function is always true in dimension 1 by Morrey's inequality, and the strong maximum principle can be verified for $n \geq 1$ if V belongs to the Lorentz space $L^{\frac{n}{2},1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ or if V belongs to the Kato class \mathcal{K}_n . The issue of whether the strong maximum principle holds is strongly tied to certain capacities of the zero sets of solutions [2]. For more on this, see [68,69].

With the existence of a landscape function at hand, we tackle *a priori* exponential decay estimates for Lax-Milgram solutions, Green's functions, and eigenfunctions, extending results of [5] to the case $V \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ and to Dirichlet boundary conditions.⁷ The a priori exponential decay of eigenfunctions for tight-binding Hamiltonians has also been considered [88]. Recall we already defined the Agmon distance ρ in (1.6); the definitions of ρ_A and the version \hat{u} of the landscape function are found in Section 4.

Theorem 2.2 (Exponential decay estimates I: Lax-Milgram solutions). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1, assume that (2.2) holds, and that

$$\rho(x, y, \frac{1}{\hat{u}}) \longrightarrow 0, \quad as |x - y| \to 0, \quad for any \ x, y \in \Omega.$$
 (2.5)

Then there exist constants ε , C, depending only on λ , such that for every $f \in L^2(\Omega)$ with compact support in Ω ,

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} e^{2\varepsilon \rho(\cdot, \operatorname{supp} f, \frac{1}{\hat{u}})} |L^{-1}f|^2 \le C \int_{\Omega} u f^2.$$
(2.6)

Moreover, if A is symmetric and continuous, then for each $\alpha \in (0, 1/4)$,

$$\int_{\Omega} u^{2} A \nabla \left(\frac{e^{\alpha \rho_{A}(\cdot, \operatorname{supp} f, \frac{1}{\hat{u}})} L^{-1} f}{u} \right) \nabla \left(\frac{e^{\alpha \rho_{A}(\cdot, \operatorname{supp} f, \frac{1}{\hat{u}})} L^{-1} f}{u} \right) + \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} e^{2\alpha \rho_{A}(\cdot, \operatorname{supp} f, \frac{1}{\hat{u}})} |L^{-1} f|^{2} \leq \frac{1}{(1 - \alpha^{2})^{2}} \int_{\Omega} u f^{2}. \quad (2.7)$$

Assumption (2.5) says that the rate at which $u \searrow 0$ within compact subsets of Ω is mildly controlled; for instance, this assumption holds if u > 0 on Ω (and this is true, in particular, for bounded potentials, or potentials in the Kato class \mathcal{K}_n).

Knowing that the Green's function of an operator exhibits large decay is useful in the study of the spectrum of the operator, as well as towards proving L^p estimates of Riesz

⁷ See also Corollary 4.7 for the exponential decay of resolvents.

transforms associated to the Schrödinger operator, and related questions in harmonic analysis [6,8,9,12,76,89]. The following theorem says that the decay of the integral kernel is a priori governed by the behavior of the landscape function.

Theorem 2.3 (Exponential decay estimates II: Green's function). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1, and assume that (2.2) and (2.5) hold. Then, for each $\alpha \in (0,1)$, we have that

$$\int_{B(x_{0},\delta)} \int_{B(y_{0},\varepsilon)} G(x,y) \, dy \, dx$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{|B(0,1)|} \frac{1}{(1-\alpha^{2})} \delta^{-\frac{n}{2}} \varepsilon^{-\frac{n}{2}} \left(\int_{B(y_{0},\varepsilon)} u \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{B(x_{0},\delta)} u \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \max_{x \in B(x_{0},\delta)} \min_{y \in B(y_{0},\varepsilon)} e^{-\alpha \rho(x,y,\frac{1}{\hat{u}})}$$
(2.8)

for each $x_0, y_0 \in \Omega$ and $\delta, \varepsilon > 0$ such that $B(x_0, \delta) \cup B(y_0, \varepsilon) \subset \Omega$. Furthermore, if $n \geq 3$ and $V \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, then for any $x, y \in \Omega$ with

$$B_x \cap B_y := B(x, ||V||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1/2}) \cap B(y, ||V||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1/2}) = \varnothing, \qquad 4B_x \cup 4B_y \subset \Omega,$$

there exist $\tilde{x} \in B_x$, $\tilde{y} \in B_y$ such that the estimate

$$G(x,y) \le C \|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{\frac{n}{2}} \sqrt{u(\tilde{x})} \sqrt{u(\tilde{y})} e^{-\alpha \rho(\tilde{x},\tilde{y},\frac{1}{u})}$$

$$\tag{2.9}$$

holds, and C depends only on n, α , and λ .

Remark 2.4. If $n \geq 3$, then we may use the Moser estimate to deduce from (2.8) that

$$G(x_0,y_0) \leq C\delta^{-\frac{n}{2}}\varepsilon^{-\frac{n}{2}} \Big(\int\limits_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} u\Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big(\int\limits_{B(x_0,\delta)} u\Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \max_{x \in B(x_0,\delta)} \min_{y \in B(y_0,\varepsilon)} e^{-\alpha\rho(x,y,\frac{1}{\hat{u}})},$$

for each $x_0, y_0 \in \Omega$ and $\delta, \varepsilon > 0$ such that $B(x_0, \delta) \cup B(y_0, \varepsilon) \subset \Omega$. Here, C depends only on n, λ , and α .

For the a priori exponential decay estimate on eigenfunctions, we restrict to symmetric and continuous A. The existence of a discrete spectrum σ_d for Schrödinger operators, and the conditions on V or Ω which guarantee it, are well-researched topics in the literature. However, due to the generality of our setting, in this paper we will not deal with the existence of σ_d , and we will simply show that if an eigenfunction exists, then its decay is governed by the Agmon distance with a weight given by the landscape function.

Theorem 2.5 (Exponential decay estimates III: Eigenfunctions). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1, and moreover, assume that (2.2) and (2.5) hold, and that A is symmetric

and continuous.⁸ Let \mathcal{L} be the operator in Definition 4.6, with domain $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L}) \subset L^2(\Omega)$. Suppose that there exist $\mu > 0$ and $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L})$ such that $\mathcal{L}\psi = \mu\psi$. Let

$$w(x):=\big(\tfrac{1}{\hat{u}(x)}-\mu\big)_+=\max\big\{0,\tfrac{1}{\hat{u}(x)}-\mu\big\},\quad and\quad E:=\big\{x\in\Omega:\tfrac{1}{\hat{u}(x)}\leq\mu\big\}.$$

Then for each $\alpha \in (0, 1/4)$, we have that

$$\int_{\Omega} u^2 A \nabla \left(\frac{e^{\alpha \rho_A(\cdot, E, w)} \psi}{u} \right) \nabla \left(\frac{e^{\alpha \rho_A(\cdot, E, w)} \psi}{u} \right) + \int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{1}{u} - \mu \right)_+ e^{2\alpha \rho_A(\cdot, E, w)} |\psi|^2 \le \frac{1}{(1 - \alpha^2)} \int_{E} \left(\mu - \frac{1}{u} \right)_+ |\psi|^2. \quad (2.10)$$

Remark 2.6. Note that, under the assumptions of Theorem 2.5, the right-hand side of (2.10) is always finite, since $\psi \in L^2(\Omega)$ and $\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} \psi^2 < +\infty$ because of the uncertainty principle (2.4).

The proofs of the three previous theorems may be found in Section 4 and consist of an Agmon-type argument, using the uncertainty principle, similar as in [5]. However, technical issues have to be dealt with since V is no longer bounded (except for (2.9)), $\frac{1}{u} \to +\infty$ at $\partial\Omega$, and u is not even necessarily positive on Ω . The averaged L^1 decay result of Theorem 2.3 relies on Theorem 2.2 and the representation formula for Lax-Milgram solutions in terms of the Green's function. From (2.8) and a lower bound for u in terms of V (which is not trivial when u is the Dirichlet landscape function; see Proposition 3.13), (2.9) follows. Let us emphasize that the decay estimates of the previous theorems do not assume any regularity of the potential V; hence, in particular, they hold for random potentials. On the other hand, in the generality of our setting the Agmon distance $\rho(x,y,\frac{1}{u})$ may be degenerate, and may not look anything like the Euclidean distance, even for bounded V. This is why we say that our estimates are a priori.

Now we restrict to $n \geq 3$ for the next few results, which will give situations where the Agmon distance with weight 1/u is not degenerate. Of course, the estimates of Theorems 2.2 and 2.3 also hold for potentials $V \in RH_{n/2}$, and in this case these results overlap with certain upper bound exponential decay estimates from [62,79], where the maximal function m was used; however, the Agmon distance used in these papers a priori differs from the Agmon distance used in this article, because m^2 and 1/u are different weights. Nevertheless, this is not an issue: our next main result shows that the functions m^2 and 1/u are pointwise equivalent. In fact, we show this under the much milder assumptions of [79] introduced as (V1) and (V2) below, themselves inspired by [18].

⁸ If A is not continuous, then the results here still hold with ρ_A replaced by ρ , and up to multiplicative constants depending on λ .

Theorem 2.7 (The relation between 1/u and $m^2(\cdot, V)$). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1, and moreover, assume that $n \geq 3$, that $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$, and suppose that V satisfies:

(V1) (Scale-invariant Kato Condition) [79, Display (0.2)]. There exist positive constants C_0 and δ such that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and all 0 < r < R,

$$\int_{B(x,r)} V(y) dy \le C_0 \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{n-2+\delta} \int_{B(x,R)} V(y) dy. \tag{2.11}$$

(V2) (Doubling on balls with high mass) [79, Display (0.3)]. There exists a positive constant C_1 such that for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and all r > 0,

$$\int_{B(x,2r)} V(y) \, dy \le C_1 \left[\int_{B(x,r)} V(y) \, dy + r^{n-2} \right]. \tag{2.12}$$

Then (2.2) holds, and there exists C > 0, depending only on $n, \lambda, C_0, C_1, \delta$, such that

$$\frac{1}{C}\frac{1}{m^2(x,V)} \le u(x) \le C\frac{1}{m^2(x,V)}, \quad \text{for each } x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
 (2.13)

where $m(\cdot, V)$ is the maximal function from (1.3), and u is the landscape function defined in Theorem 2.1.

Remark 2.8. It is important in Theorem 2.7 that we take the solution u to Lu=1 described in Theorem 2.1; other solutions to Lv=1 may not verify (2.13). For instance, take $V \equiv 1$; in this case, $m(\cdot, 1) = C$, and consider $v = e^{x_1} + 1$, which solves $-\Delta v + v = 1$ on \mathbb{R}^n . It is clear that (2.13) does not hold for v in place of u.

The potentials satisfying the conditions (V1) and (V2) will be called *Shen potentials*. The proof of this theorem is given in Section 5, and relies on exponential decay estimates from [62] for Lax-Milgram solutions.

Let us make a few remarks regarding the conditions (2.11) and (2.12). First, if V satisfies the reverse Hölder inequality (1.7), then V is a Shen potential. On the other hand, $V(x) = e^{-|x|}$ is a Shen potential, but does not lie in any reverse Hölder class RH_q , q > 1 (because V is not doubling). More generally, note that if $V \in RH_q$, then V is the Radon-Nikodym derivative of a measure which is A_{∞} -absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure, but Shen potentials may be zero on open sets, for instance. Finally, let us note that random Schrödinger potentials generally fail both conditions (V1) and (V2).

There is a practical advantage in working with 1/u instead of m^2 , even though they are pointwise equivalent by the previous theorem. Namely, from the point of view of numerics, it is much easier to compute the solution to the problem Lu = 1 than to

compute the maximal function m; moreover, under the setting of Theorem 2.7, u is Hölder continuous, while m is not. Now, from well-known results concerning m, we are able to give immediate corollaries which are new for the landscape function. The first one uses the exponential decay results of [62,79] to obtain upper and lower bound exponential decay estimates in terms of an Agmon distance with weight 1/u.

Corollary 2.9 (Sharp exponential decay with the landscape function for Shen potentials). Retain the setting and assumptions of Theorem 2.7, and let Γ be the fundamental solution for the operator L. Then there exist constants C, ε_1 , and ε_2 , which depend only on n, λ , C_0 , C_1 , and δ , such that

$$\frac{1}{C|x-y|^{n-2}}e^{-\varepsilon_1\rho(x,y,\frac{1}{u})}\leq \Gamma(x,y)\leq C\frac{1}{|x-y|^{n-2}}e^{-\varepsilon_2\rho(x,y,\frac{1}{u})},\qquad for\ each\ x,y\in\mathbb{R}^n.$$

The next corollary gives properties that u enjoys by virtue of being pointwise equivalent to $1/m^2$, under the assumptions (2.11) and (2.12).

Corollary 2.10 (Properties of the landscape function for Shen potentials). Retain the setting and assumptions of Theorem 2.7. Then there exist C > 0 and $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, which depend only on n, λ , C_0 , C_1 , and δ , such that the following statements hold.

(i) (1/u encodes V). For each $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we have that

$$\frac{1}{C} \frac{1}{u(x)} \le \int\limits_{B(x,\sqrt{u(x)})} V(y) \, dy \le C \frac{1}{u(x)}$$

(ii) (Scale-invariant Harnack inequality). For each $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, if $y \in B(x, \sqrt{u(x)})$, then

$$\frac{1}{C}u(x) \le u(y) \le Cu(x). \tag{2.14}$$

(iii) (Comparability at a long distance). For each $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we have that

$$\frac{1}{C} \frac{1}{\sqrt{u(y)}} \left\{ 1 + \frac{|x-y|}{\sqrt{u(y)}} \right\}^{\frac{-k_0}{k_0+1}} \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{u(x)}} \le C \frac{1}{\sqrt{u(y)}} \left\{ 1 + \frac{|x-y|}{\sqrt{u(y)}} \right\}^{k_0}. \tag{2.15}$$

(iv) (Case of polynomial potentials [77, Estimate (0.8)]). If $V(x) = |P(x)|^{\alpha}$ where P is a polynomial of degree $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\alpha > 0$, then

$$\frac{1}{u(x)} \approx \left(\sum_{|\beta| < k} |\partial_x^{\beta} P(x)|^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha|\beta|+2}}\right)^2, \quad \text{for each } x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

The scale-invariant Harnack inequality (2.14) is also known as the *slowly varying* property; note that this property is significantly stronger than what the regular Harnack

inequality [39, Theorem 8.18] would predict for u. The estimates (2.15) imply that the Agmon distance with respect to 1/u is pointwise controlled by powers of the Euclidean distance. Therefore, under the assumptions of Theorem 2.7, exponential decay in the Agmon distance with weight 1/u also implies exponential decay in the Euclidean distance. To the author's knowledge, this is the first time that the link between exponential decay in the Agmon distance with weight 1/u and the exponential decay in the Euclidean sense has been rigorously investigated. On the other hand, let us emphasize that we have only proved the results in the last corollary for potentials which satisfy the assumptions (2.11) and (2.12), and random potentials decidedly do not satisfy either of these assumptions.

2.2. Directionality assumptions on the magnetic field

Let us now show an application of the previous theorems. We construct a new landscape function for the magnetic Schrödinger operator $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ given in (1.4) on an open domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, $n \geq 2$, and prove that it gives exponential decay of solutions. Here, the real-valued vector function $\mathbf{a}(x) = (a_1(x), \dots, a_n(x))$ is the magnetic potential, and recall that the magnetic field \mathbf{B} is given in (1.5).

Our idea in constructing a landscape function for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ relies on the gauge invariance property of this operator: if $\Phi \in C^1$ is any real-valued function, then the magnetic potential $\tilde{\mathbf{a}} = \mathbf{a} + \nabla \Phi$ has the same magnetic field as that of \mathbf{a} ; hence $\tilde{\mathbf{B}} = \mathbf{B}$. Moreover, the identities

$$L_{\tilde{\mathbf{a}}}f = e^{i\Phi}L_{\mathbf{a}}(e^{-i\Phi}f), \qquad D_{j,\tilde{\mathbf{a}}}f = e^{i\Phi}D_{j,\mathbf{a}}(e^{-i\Phi}f)$$
(2.16)

hold, where

$$D_{j,\mathbf{a}}f := \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_j} - ia_j f, \qquad 1 \le j \le n, \qquad D_{\mathbf{a}} := (D_{j,\mathbf{a}})_{1 \le j \le n}. \tag{2.17}$$

By (2.16), the spectrum and the quantitative properties of the eigenfunctions associated to $L_{\mathbf{a}}$ are invariant under gauge transformations, and determined solely by the magnetic field \mathbf{B} . For this reason, when seeking a landscape function for the magnetic Schrödinger operator that generalizes the Filoche-Mayboroda landscape function for the non-magnetic case, it makes sense to attempt to create it solely by knowledge of the magnetic field, and not of the specific magnetic potential \mathbf{a} , which can always be "gauged out". Moreover, we seek to do this under minimal assumptions on the magnetic field; in particular, we do not want to assume any pointwise bound like (1.9) on the gradient of the magnetic field, since we want to be able to treat random magnetic potentials as well (at least, in an a priori way, similar as how it was done in Section 2.1).

⁹ More precisely, we construct a candidate for a landscape function; the question of whether the function constructed here is helpful in the study of Anderson localization under the presence of a random magnetic field will be the subject of future investigations.

We now state our assumptions on the magnetic field. Without loss of generality we may assume that the origin lies in Ω . We say that $\mathcal{S} = \{(j', k')\}$ is a selection of pairs if for each $j, k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ with $j \neq k$, exactly one of (j, k) or (k, j) belong to \mathcal{S} . Selections of pairs will correspond to choosing exactly one function of b_{jk} or b_{kj} , for each j, k. Note that, since \mathbf{B} is antisymmetric,

$$|\mathbf{B}|(x) = \sum_{(j',k')\in\mathcal{S}} |b_{j'k'}(x)|,$$
 for any selection of pairs \mathcal{S} .

We assume that

$$\mathbf{a} \in L^2_{loc}(\Omega), b_{jk}, V \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega), \text{ for each } j, k = \{1, 2, \dots, n\},$$
 (2.18)

and that

possibly after an orthonormal change of coordinates, there exists \mathcal{S} such that

$$\sum_{(j',k')\in\mathcal{S}} b_{j'k'} + V \ge 0 \text{ pointwise a.e. on } \Omega. \quad (2.19)$$

If S is such that the inequality in (2.19) is satisfied (for some given coordinates), then we call S an admissible selection.

Observe that, if V = 0, (2.19) is essentially a requirement that the magnetic field favors certain directions. For instance, (2.19) is satisfied if

 $|\mathbf{B}| + V \ge 0$ and, possibly after an orthonormal change of coordinates,

$$b_{jk}$$
 does not change sign over Ω , for each $j, k = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$. (2.20)

In the case that (2.20) holds, there is a unique admissible selection \mathcal{S} which satisfies

$$|\mathbf{B}| = \sum_{(j',k')\in\mathcal{S}} b_{j'k'}.\tag{2.21}$$

We refer to (2.19) and (2.20) respectively as the weak and strong favored directionality assumptions. Let us discuss the meaning and viability of these conditions.

For n=2, (2.20) is easily seen to be related to (1.11) which appeared in [11,77], and if V=0, it simply states that the direction of the magnetic field is not allowed to flip; (1.11) was also considered in [31] for the study of Anderson localization for random magnetic fields, and the Aharonov-Bohm fields [63] also formally satisfy the assumption. For $n \geq 3$, the landmark paper [7] introduced a condition on the direction of the magnetic field in their Corollary 2.10 which allowed the construction of magnetic bottles over \mathbb{R}^n .

 $^{^{10}}$ For the Aharonov-Bohm fields, the magnetic field is a measure with atoms.

They gave as an example that in three dimensions where we may identify the magnetic field as (b_1, b_2, b_3) , if b_1, b_2, b_3 are non-negative and $b_1 + b_2 + b_3 \rightarrow +\infty$ as $|x| \rightarrow \infty$, then the operator $L_{\mathbf{a},0}$ has compact resolvent. Thus the favored directionality assumptions (2.19), (2.20) are very much related to the condition of [7, Corollary 2.10]. This latter condition has been used many times in the literature [11,19,21,28–30,67,87] to obtain uncertainty principles, magnetic Hardy inequalities, and magnetic bottles; on the other hand, these papers have often introduced extra regularity assumptions on the direction of the magnetic field, requiring its smoothness in a scale-invariant sense, which is what we are trying to avoid in this paper (but see Theorem 6.9 for a case where we consider a mixture of our assumption (2.20) and the regularity condition (1.9)).

Let us give two intuitive reformulations of (2.20) for the physically relevant case n = 3. Here, the magnetic field may be identified by a vector function $\mathbf{b} = (b_1, b_2, b_3)$, and in this case the second statement of (2.20) is equivalent to

the range of \mathbf{b} is a subset of the convexhull of the positive half-axes

associated to some orthonormal basis of \mathbb{R}^3 .

Another equivalent way to understand the second statement of (2.20) for n=3 is

$$\mathbf{b}(x) \cdot \mathbf{b}(y) > 0$$
, for each $x, y \in \Omega$.

Therefore, (2.20) says that the direction of the magnetic field must be somewhat consistent over the whole domain. Note that for any n, if **B** is continuous and if $V \geq 0$, then (2.20) is always satisfied in a neighborhood of a point where the multiplicity of 0 as an eigenvalue for **B** is no more than 1; this is a consequence of the spectral theory for antisymmetric matrices. Let us be more precise: fix $x_0 \in \Omega$, and since $\mathbf{B}(x_0)$ is a real-valued antisymmetric matrix, there is an orthonormal change of coordinates Θ (depending on x_0) so that, if n = 2m is even,

$$\mathbf{B}^{\Theta}(x_0) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & b_{12}^{\Theta} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ -b_{12}^{\Theta} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & b_{34}^{\Theta} & & 0 \\ & & -b_{34}^{\Theta} & 0 & & \\ \vdots & & & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & b_{(m-1)m}^{\Theta} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

with $b_{12}^{\Theta} \geq b_{34}^{\Theta} \geq \cdots \geq b_{(m-1)m}^{\Theta} \geq 0$. If n is odd, we have to add a row and column of 0 to $\mathbf{B}^{\Theta}(x_0)$, but we still get the same sequence $\{b_{j(j+1)}^{\Theta}\}$ as above, with n = 2m + 1. It is clear then that (2.20) is satisfied at x_0 , and if $b_{(m-1)m} > 0$, then by the continuity of \mathbf{B} we get that (2.20) is satisfied in a small neighborhood of x_0 .

We mention that, for $n \ge 2$, the assumptions (2.19) and (2.20) are well-suited to work with random Landau Hamiltonians, where the magnetic field is constant. They are also

suited to work with random magnetic potentials of the form $\mathbf{a}_0 + \delta \mathbf{a}_{\omega}$, where \mathbf{a}_0 is a given magnetic potential satisfying (2.19), \mathbf{a}_{ω} is an arbitrary bounded random magnetic potential, and $\delta > 0$ is sufficiently small. These situations have been considered heavily in the literature; some related works are [22,38,47,52,53].

Given a magnetic field **B** over \mathbb{R}^n , it is easy to consider many examples when Ω is chosen so that (2.20) holds for **B** on Ω . Examples of (2.20) over \mathbb{R}^n include magnetic fields whose components are polynomials which do not change signs (in particular, constant magnetic fields satisfy (2.20)), but these are treated by existing literature, since the smoothness assumption (1.9) holds for these cases. Let us now give an example over \mathbb{R}^n which is not handled by the assumptions of Z. Shen [54,62,75,77,78], but which satisfies our assumptions.

Example 2.11. For $n \geq 3$, let $\alpha \in (0,1)$, and consider $\mathbf{a} = (a_1, \dots, a_n)$ given by

$$a_j(x) = \begin{cases} x_{j+1}^{\alpha}, & x_{j+1} \ge 0 \\ -(-x_{j+1})^{\alpha}, & x_{j+1} < 0, \end{cases}$$
 $j = 1, 2, \dots, n, \quad x_{n+1} \equiv x_1.$

Clearly, a is Hölder continuous, but not Lipschitz continuous, since

$$\frac{\partial a_j}{\partial x_{j+1}} = \alpha |x_{j+1}|^{\alpha - 1}, \quad \frac{\partial a_j}{\partial x_k} = 0, \qquad j = 1, \dots, n, k \neq j + 1, \quad x_{n+1} \equiv x_1.$$

It follows that $b_{j(j+1)} = -b_{j(j-1)} = \alpha |x_{j+1}|^{\alpha-1}$, and $b_{jk} = 0$ otherwise for $j = 1, \ldots, n$, and where we have identified the subscripts n+1 with 1, and 0 with n. Let $\mathcal{S} = \{(j,k): j < k\}$ be the upper triangular selection. Then this example satisfies assumption (2.20), and

$$|\mathbf{B}| = \alpha \sum_{j=1}^{n} |x_j|^{\alpha - 1} = \sum_{(j', k') \in \mathcal{S}} b_{j'k'},$$

so that S is the unique admissible selection from (2.21). Notice that $|\mathbf{B}|$ is smooth away from the axes, and $|\mathbf{B}| \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for each $p \in (1, \frac{1}{1-\alpha})$. A simple calculation¹¹ will show also that $|\mathbf{B}| \in RH_p$ for any such p. In particular, if $\alpha > \frac{n-2}{n}$, then $|\mathbf{B}| \in RH_{n/2}$. On the other hand, a weak derivative does not exist as an integrable function near the coordinate axes for any non-zero component of \mathbf{B} .

Finally, note that if $\alpha > \frac{n-2}{n}$ and $-\frac{\alpha}{2n} \sum_j |x_j|^{\alpha-1} \leq V \leq 0$, then we still have $0 \leq |\mathbf{B}| + V \in RH_{n/2}$, so that the maximal function $m(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}| + V)$ is well-defined, and this example satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 2.12. If $V \geq 0$, then this example furthermore satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 2.16 (except for the assumptions in (iii), since the magnetic field is unbounded) and Corollaries 6.6 and 6.7. \square

¹¹ It is easier to show the property $(\int_Q |\mathbf{B}|^p)^{\frac{1}{p}} \lesssim \int_Q |\mathbf{B}|$ over cubes Q in this example.

Note that the condition (2.19) is quite a bit more general than (2.20), since it allows for cancellations to occur between the different components of the magnetic field and the potential V as well. In particular, we do not in general require $V \geq 0$ in (2.19) nor in (2.20), so that these assumptions allow one to study cases when the negative contributions of V are canceled by the magnetic field, as illustrated in Example 2.11. In the opposite case where V is dominant, note that if

$$|\mathbf{B}| \le \frac{2}{(n-1)n}V,$$

then (2.19) is satisfied in any coordinate system, and any selection S is an admissible selection. For these reasons, and for the way that we will use (2.19),

we propose that our assumption (2.19) generalizes to $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ the non-negativity condition on V which is often placed when studying $L_{0,V}$.

2.3. Main results for the magnetic Schrödinger operator $-(\nabla - i\mathbf{a})^2 + V$

Fix a coordinate system for which (2.19) holds, let

$$\Sigma_{\mathcal{S}}\mathbf{B}(x) := \sum_{(j',k')\in\mathcal{S}} b_{j'k'},$$

where S is an admissible selection, and let $u = u_S$ be the landscape function (with 0 Dirichlet boundary conditions) from Theorem 2.1 for the Schrödinger operator

$$\tilde{L} := -\Delta + \Sigma_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{B} + V, \tag{2.22}$$

so that

$$-\Delta u + \Sigma_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{B} u + V u = 1, \quad \text{on } \Omega.$$
 (2.23)

Theorem 2.12 (An uncertainty principle for the magnetic Schrödinger operator). Let $n \geq 2$, and let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be an open connected set, with empty or Lipschitz (n-1)-dimensional boundary. Assume that $\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{B}, V$ satisfy the assumptions (2.18) and (2.19), and suppose that S is an admissible selection such that the Green's function on Ω for the operator \tilde{L} from (2.22) satisfies (2.2). Then we have that

$$\int_{\Omega} u_{\mathcal{S}}^2 \left| \nabla \left(\frac{|f|}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} \right) \right|^2 + \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} |f|^2 \le \int_{\Omega} \left[n|D_{\mathbf{a}}f|^2 + V|f|^2 \right], \tag{2.24}$$

for any $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega; \mathbb{C})$. Here, $u_{\mathcal{S}}$ is the Filoche-Mayboroda landscape function for \tilde{L} .

 $[\]overline{}^{12}$ This situation, where the magnetic field is dominated by V, was studied in [13], under scale-invariant assumptions on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$.

Remark 2.13. The left-hand side of (2.24) depends on which admissible selection S is taken, and in the full generality of the assumption (2.19), there may not necessarily exist a "maximal" admissible selection S^* such that u_{S^*} is pointwise bounded above in Ω by u_{S} , for any other admissible selection S. We may remove dependence on S from (2.24) by adding up the estimate over all admissible selections S, of which there are at most a uniform constant depending only on dimension (for a fixed coordinate system). On the other hand, observe that if the stronger direction assumption (2.20) is satisfied, then there does exist a maximal admissible selection, due to (2.21).

Remark 2.14. The assumption (2.19) is used to qualitatively assert the existence and non-negativity of u; it might be the case that some further generalization of (2.19) is possible; for instance, under subcriticality assumptions on the negative part of $\Sigma_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{B} + V$, but we have not pursued this direction.

The proof of Theorem 2.12 is shown in Section 6, and relies on the uncertainty principle that u is already known to satisfy as the Filoche-Mayboroda landscape function for a Schrödinger operator with no magnetic field, as well as the identification of the components of the magnetic fields as commutators of the operators (2.17). This identification or similar ideas have been used by several authors before to obtain uncertainty principles [7,11,19-21,45,48,67,75], but usually at the cost of extra derivatives of the magnetic field, or scale-invariant regularity of the direction of the magnetic field. Our insight is that, under the favored directionality assumption (2.19), we may use a landscape function to dispense of the scale-invariant smoothness condition (1.9). The idea of studying properties of $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ by comparison to a non-magnetic Schrödinger operator is well-established; indeed, when $V \geq 0$ and under minimal integrability conditions on \mathbf{a} , the Kato-Simon inequality [49,80] (see also [58]) is the semigroup estimate

$$|e^{-tL_{\mathbf{a},V}}\varphi| \le e^{t\Delta}|\varphi|, \quad \text{for each } \varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

In Section 6.3, we also show uncertainty principles using landscape functions in cases where our directionality assumptions may not apply, or apply only on subdomains of \mathbb{R}^n .

From Theorem 2.12, a priori exponential decay results can be obtained for the magnetic Schrödinger operator. The precise definitions of the operators $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$, $\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ are in Section 6. For the a priori exponential decay of the Green's function, we will need to make some more assumptions.

Assumption 2.15. For $n \geq 3$, assume that ¹³ the local weak solutions of $L_{\mathbf{a},V}\psi = 0$ satisfy a scale-invariant Moser estimate, ¹⁴ that the Green's function $G_{\mathbf{a},V}$ for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ exists on Ω , that it solves $L_{\mathbf{a},V}G_{\mathbf{a},V} = 0$ outside the diagonal, and that it satisfies

¹³ If $V \ge 0$, then $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ satisfies the properties here stated, as presented in [62, Section 5]. ¹⁴ See Definition 6.1 of [62].

$$|G_{\mathbf{a},V}(x,y)| \lesssim \frac{1}{|x-y|^{n-2}}, \quad \text{for all } x,y \in \Omega.$$
 (2.25)

Theorem 2.16 (Exponential decay of solutions to $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$). Retain the setting and assumptions of Theorem 2.12, assume that (2.5) holds for $\hat{u} = \hat{u}_{\mathcal{S}}$, and moreover, assume that

$$\Sigma_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{B} \ge nV_{-} = n \max\{0, -V\}.$$

Then there exist $\varepsilon > 0$ and $C \ge 1$, depending only on n, so that the following are true.

(i) (Lax-Milgram solutions). For every $f \in L^2(\Omega; \mathbb{C})$ with compact support in Ω ,

$$\int_{\Omega} u_{\mathcal{S}}^{2} \left| \nabla \left(\frac{e^{\varepsilon \rho(\cdot, \operatorname{supp} f, \frac{1}{\hat{u}_{\mathcal{S}}})} |L_{\mathbf{a}, V}^{-1} f|}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} \right) \right|^{2} + \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} e^{2\varepsilon \rho(\cdot, \operatorname{supp} f, \frac{1}{\hat{u}_{\mathcal{S}}})} |L_{\mathbf{a}, V}^{-1} f|^{2} \leq C \int_{\Omega} u_{\mathcal{S}} |f|^{2}.$$

(ii) (Eigenfunctions). Suppose there is $\mu > 0$ and $\psi \in \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}})$ with $\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}\psi = \mu\psi$. Let

$$w(x):=\big(\tfrac{1}{\hat{u}_{\mathcal{S}}(x)}-\mu\big)_+=\max\big\{0,\tfrac{1}{\hat{u}_{\mathcal{S}}(x)}-\mu\big\},\quad and\quad E:=\big\{x\in\Omega:\tfrac{1}{\hat{u}_{\mathcal{S}}(x)}\leq\mu\big\}.$$

Then

$$\int_{\Omega} u_{\mathcal{S}}^{2} \left| \nabla \left(\frac{e^{\varepsilon \rho(\cdot, E, w)} |\psi|}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} \right) \right|^{2} + \int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{1}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} - \mu \right)_{+} e^{2\varepsilon \rho(\cdot, E, w)} |\psi|^{2} \le C_{n} \int_{E} \left(\mu - \frac{1}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} \right)_{+} |\psi|^{2}.$$
(2.26)

(iii) (Green's function). Suppose that $n \geq 3$, that $\mathbf{B}_{\infty} := \|\Sigma_{\mathcal{S}}\mathbf{B} + V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} < +\infty$, and that Assumption 2.15 holds. Then there exists $C_G \geq 1$, depending on the constants from Assumption 2.15, so that for any $x, y \in \Omega$ with

$$B_x \cap B_y := B(x, \mathbf{B}_{\infty}^{-1/2}) \cap B(y, \mathbf{B}_{\infty}^{-1/2}) = \varnothing, \quad 4B_x \cup 4B_y \subset \Omega,$$

there exist¹⁵ $\tilde{x} \in B_x$, $\tilde{y} \in B_y$ such that

$$|G_{\mathbf{a},V}(\tilde{x},\tilde{y})| \le CC_G \mathbf{B}_{\infty}^{\frac{n}{2}} \sqrt{u(\tilde{x})} \sqrt{u(\tilde{y})} e^{-\varepsilon \rho(\tilde{x},\tilde{y},\frac{1}{u_S})}. \tag{2.27}$$

Remark 2.17. The estimates in Theorem 2.16 are not optimal in every setting. Indeed, it is known that if n=2, $\Omega=\mathbb{R}^2$, $V\equiv 0$, and the magnetic field is constant, then the integral kernel $G_{\mathbf{a},V}$ exhibits Gaussian decay; this faster-than-exponential decay has also been studied for eigenfunctions to $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ in some more general cases; see, for instance, [23,27,66,83].

 $^{^{15}\,}$ See also Remark 6.1 for a situation where we may use x,y directly in (2.27).

Finally, we restrict to $n \geq 3$, and apply Theorem 2.7 together with Theorem 2.12 to trade the smoothness assumption (1.9) for the directionality assumption (2.19) in the proof of the Fefferman-Phong uncertainty principle for the maximal function m.

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} m^2(\cdot, \Sigma_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{B} + V)|f|^2 \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left[|D_{\mathbf{a}} f|^2 + V|f|^2 \right], \tag{2.28}$$

where $m(\cdot, \Sigma_{\mathcal{S}}\mathbf{B} + V)$ is the function from (1.3). Moreover, the landscape function $u_{\mathcal{S}}$ satisfies the properties (i), (ii), and (iii) of Corollary 2.10 (with $\Sigma_{\mathcal{S}}\mathbf{B} + V$ in place of V).

Remark 2.19. Note that if V and \mathbf{B} satisfy (2.18), (2.20), and $|\mathbf{B}|+V$ is a non-degenerate Shen potential, then the assumptions of Corollary 2.18 hold, and in this case we may canonically take a maximal admissible selection \mathcal{S} ; see Remark 2.13.

The proof is an immediate application of the aforementioned theorems. From Corollary 2.18, we are able to recover several results from the literature without imposing conditions on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$ nor on the pointwise size of V, having traded these for the favored directionality assumptions (2.19) or (2.20). As a consequence, we resolve Conjecture 1.1 in the negative, and we have solved Problem 1.2 of extending to higher dimensions the idea of Shen [78] to treat the magnetic Schrödinger operator with directionality assumptions instead of smoothness assumptions. The results recovered from the literature by our methods are detailed in Section 6.2.

Remark 2.20. Throughout this paper, we have proved and stated results for the landscape function with homogeneous Dirichlet boundary conditions. However, several of the proofs in this paper apply also with natural modifications to problems with different boundary conditions, such as Neumann or mixed boundary conditions, at least in the setting of bounded domains. For the sake of simplicity and brevity, we do not state these results for problems with different boundary conditions.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows. In Section 3, we prove Theorem 2.1 and give necessary preliminaries. In Section 4, we prove Theorems 2.2, 2.3, and 2.5. In Section 5, we prove Theorem 2.7. Finally, in Section 6, we prove Theorem 2.12, and give solutions to Conjecture 1.1 and Problem 1.2.

3. The landscape function on unbounded domains

In this section, we provide operator-theoretic preliminaries to construct the landscape function, show the uncertainty principle, and prove Theorem 2.1.

3.1. Preliminaries

We write $a \lesssim b$ to mean that there exists a uniform constant C > 0 such that $a \leq Cb$, and $a \approx b$ means that $C^{-1}b \leq a \leq Cb$. Throughout this section, we take the setting and assumptions of Theorem 2.1, unless explicitly mentioned otherwise.

Define the elliptic operator L acting formally on real-valued functions ψ by

$$L\psi = -\operatorname{div}(A\nabla\psi) + V\psi = -\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \left(a_{ij} \frac{\partial\psi}{\partial x_j} \right) + V\psi.$$

We will need to consider the weak form of the operator L. Recall that $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ is the space of compactly supported smooth functions on Ω , and that $W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ is the Sobolev space of square integrable functions on Ω whose weak derivatives exist in Ω and are square integrable functions, while $W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ is the completion of $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ under the norm

$$\|\psi\|_{W^{1,2}(\Omega)} := \sqrt{\int_{\Omega} |\psi|^2 + |\nabla \psi|^2}.$$

Moreover, the space $\dot{W}^{1,2}(\Omega)$ consists of the $L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ functions whose weak gradient is square integrable over Ω , and for $p \geq 1$, we denote by $L^p_c(\Omega)$ the space of (real-valued) Lebesgue p-th integrable functions with compact support in Ω .

Definition 3.1 (Weak solutions). Given $f \in (C_c^{\infty}(\Omega))^*$, we say that a function $\psi \in W_{loc}^{1,2}(\Omega) \cap L_{loc}^1(\Omega, V dx)$ satisfies $L\psi = f$ in the weak sense in Ω if for each $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, we have that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[A \nabla \psi \nabla \varphi + V \psi \varphi \right] = \langle f, \varphi \rangle. \tag{3.1}$$

The following local estimate on the gradients of weak solutions is standard.

Lemma 3.2 (Caccioppoli inequality). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1, let B be a ball such that $2B \subset \Omega$, let $f \in L^q(2B)$ for some $q > \max\{1, n/2\}$, and suppose that $\psi \in W^{1,2}(2B) \cap L^1(2B, V dx)$ solves $L\psi = f$ in the weak sense in 2B. Then there exists $C \geq 1$, depending only on n and λ , such that

$$\int\limits_{B} \left[|\nabla \psi|^2 + V \psi^2 \right] \le C \left[\frac{1}{\operatorname{rad}(B)^2} \int\limits_{2B} \psi^2 + \int\limits_{2B} f \psi \right].$$

Define on $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, the (Dirichlet) form

$$\mathfrak{l}(\psi,\varphi) = \mathfrak{l}_{\Omega,A,V}(\psi,\varphi) = \int_{\Omega} \left[A \nabla \psi \nabla \varphi + V \psi \varphi \right], \qquad \psi, \varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega). \tag{3.2}$$

Throughout this manuscript, we will omit the subscripts from \mathfrak{l} whenever they are understood from the context. In fact, the function space on which we have defined the form \mathfrak{l} so far is suboptimal. Owing to the conditions we have placed on A and V, the functional

$$\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{l}} := \sqrt{\mathfrak{l}(\psi, \psi)} \tag{3.3}$$

is a norm on $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, and we let $\mathfrak{D} = \mathfrak{D}_{A,V}(\Omega)$ be the completion of $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ under this norm. Thus \mathfrak{D} is complete.

Lemma 3.3 (Embeddings of \mathfrak{D} in bounded subdomains). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1. The following statements are true.

(i) Let M be any open, bounded subset of Ω with Lipshitz boundary, with $\int_M V > 0$. Then there exists C, depending only on n, λ , and M, such that

$$\sqrt{\int_{M} \left[A \nabla \psi \nabla \psi + V \psi^{2} \right]} \ge \frac{1}{C} \|\psi\|_{W^{1,2}(M)}$$
(3.4)

holds for each $\psi \in C^{\infty}(M)$. In particular, if $\psi \in \mathfrak{D}(\Omega)$, then $\psi \in L^p_{\mathrm{loc}}(\Omega)$ for each $p \in [1, \frac{2n}{n-2}]$ if $n \geq 3$, and each $p \in [1, \infty)$ if n = 1, 2.

(ii) If Ω is bounded, then the embedding $\mathfrak{D}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ is continuous. Moreover, if $V \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, then $\mathfrak{D}(\Omega) = W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$, and $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{l}} \approx \|\cdot\|_{W^{1,2}(\Omega)}$.

Proof. We prove (i) first. By the ellipticity of A and the definition of the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{l}}$, we have that

$$\|\nabla \psi\|_{L^2(M)}^2 = \int_M |\nabla \psi|^2 \le \lambda \int_M A \nabla \psi \nabla \psi$$

for each $\psi \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Then, the fact that $\|\psi\|_{L^2(M)}$ is controlled by the left-hand side of (3.4) can be proved via a standard compactness argument using the Rellich-Kondrachov theorem, 16 where we must apply the fact that V is positive on a subset of positive measure. As for (ii), the trace $\psi|_{\partial\Omega}$ vanishes via the trace theorem for $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ functions and a completion argument, and therefore $\psi \in L^2(\Omega)$ due to the Poincaré-Sobolev inequality when Ω is bounded. We omit further details. \square

¹⁶ When n=1, we may not use this theorem, but instead we appeal to Morrey's inequality and the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem to reach the same conclusion.

Note that the form \mathfrak{l} is bounded and coercive on \mathfrak{D} (the coercivity follows by definition and the non-degeneracy of V, while the boundedness follows from the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality and (1.2)), which turns \mathfrak{D} into a Hilbert space. Denote by \mathfrak{D}^* the space of bounded linear functionals on \mathfrak{D} , and note that for each $q > \max\{1, \frac{2n}{n+2}\}$, the space $L_c^q(\Omega)$ is contained in \mathfrak{D}^* by virtue of Lemma 3.3 (i) and the Sobolev embedding theorems. Define the *Dirichlet operator* $L = L_{\Omega,A,V} : \mathfrak{D} \to \mathfrak{D}^*$ in the following way: for each $\psi \in \mathfrak{D}$, $L\psi \in \mathfrak{D}^*$ is the functional given by

$$\langle L\psi, \varphi \rangle := \mathfrak{l}(\psi, \varphi), \quad \text{for each } \varphi \in \mathfrak{D}.$$

We may thus apply the Lax-Milgram theorem to see that $L: \mathfrak{D} \to \mathfrak{D}^*$ is bounded and invertible. Consequently, for each $f \in \mathfrak{D}^*$, there exists a unique $\psi = L^{-1}f \in \mathfrak{D}$ such that

$$\mathfrak{l}(\psi,\varphi) = \langle f, \varphi \rangle, \quad \text{for each } \varphi \in \mathfrak{D}.$$

We now state the weak maximum principle, proven in [5, Proposition 3.2] for the case of $V \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ and symmetric A; we omit the proof of the general case as it is very similar. If $f \in \mathfrak{D}^*$, we say that $f \geq 0$ if $\langle f, \varphi \rangle \geq 0$ for each $\varphi \geq 0$ in \mathfrak{D} .

Lemma 3.4 (Weak maximum principle, [5]). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1. Suppose that ψ is a continuous function such that $\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{l}} < \infty$, that $\psi \geq 0$ on $\partial\Omega$, and that $L\psi = f \geq 0$ in the weak sense in Ω , for $f \in \mathfrak{D}^*$. Then $\psi \geq 0$ in Ω .

We will repeatedly make use of the following technical fact about approximations of solutions; its proof is very similar to that of [62, Lemma 5.31], and thus omitted.

Lemma 3.5 (Approximation of solutions via bounded potentials). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1. Fix $f \in L_c^q(\overline{\Omega})$ for some $q > \max\{1, n/2\}$, and for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$, let $V_N := \min\{V, N\}$, $\psi_n := L_{V_N}^{-1}f$, $\psi := L_V^{-1}f$. Then $\nabla \psi_N \to \nabla \psi$ strongly in $L^2(\Omega)^n$, $V_N^{1/2}\psi_N \to V^{1/2}\psi$ strongly in $L^2(\Omega)$, and $\psi_N \to \psi$ strongly in $L_{\text{loc}}^2(\overline{\Omega})$.

Moreover, if $f \geq 0$, then $\psi_N \searrow \psi$ pointwise a.e. in Ω .

The last lemma allows us to upgrade our weak maximum principle.

Corollary 3.6. Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1, and let $0 \le f \in L_c^q(\overline{\Omega})$ for some $q > \max\{1, n/2\}$. Then $L^{-1}f \ge 0$ in Ω .

When the singularities of V are controlled, the following stronger version of the maximum principle is classical.

Lemma 3.7 (Strong maximum principle). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1, assume that $V \in L^q(\Omega)$ for some $q > \max\{1, n/2\}$, and that Ω is bounded. Then, if $\psi \in \mathfrak{D}$ satisfies $L\psi = f \geq 0$, $f \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, with $\int_{\Omega} f > 0$, it follows that $\psi > 0$ in Ω .

The weak maximum principle can be used to verify the existence of Green's function G as an integral kernel of the operator L^{-1} . We state the definition of G below, and defer its existence to Proposition A.1 in Appendix A.

Definition 3.8 (Green's function). We say that a measurable function

$$G:\Omega\times\Omega\to\mathbb{R}$$

is the Green's function for the operator L on Ω if the following statements hold.

- (i) For each $x \in \Omega$, $0 \le G(x, \cdot) \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$ for some p > 1.
- (ii) For each $f \in L_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, we have the identity

$$(L^{-1}f)(x) = \int_{\Omega} G(x,y)f(y) dy \quad \text{for a.e. } x \in \Omega.$$
 (3.5)

When $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$, the Green's function is known as the fundamental solution. Note that, under stronger assumptions on V (say, for instance, $0 \le V \in L^{\frac{n}{2}+\varepsilon}_{loc}(\Omega)$ when $n \ge 3$), it can be shown [24] that for each $\varphi \in C^{\infty}_{c}(\overline{\Omega})$, the identity

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[A(x)\nabla G(x,y)\nabla \varphi(x) + V(x)G(x,y)\varphi(x) \right] dx = \varphi(y)$$
(3.6)

holds for all $y \in \Omega$. However, for our singular potentials, (3.6) may not be true, as remarked in Section 2.1.

3.2. Construction of the landscape function and the uncertainty principle

Definition 3.9 (The landscape function on bounded domains). If Ω is bounded, let $u = u_{\Omega} := L_{\Omega}^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\Omega}$. Thus, u is the unique weak solution to the Dirichlet problem Lu = 1 with Dirichlet data 0, called the landscape function. Observe that $\operatorname{Tr} u|_{\partial\Omega} \equiv 0$.

The following lemma is crucial in understanding the usefulness of the landscape function. It is shown in [5] for symmetric matrices, under the additional assumption that $f \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, and for a landscape function which is strongly positive on Ω . Our setting is a bit more complicated; let us give a careful proof.

Lemma 3.10 (Operator conjugation by $\frac{1}{u}$ for bounded potentials). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1, and moreover, assume that $V \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, and that Ω is bounded. Let $u = L_{\Omega}^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\Omega}$. Then for each $f \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$, the identity

$$\int\limits_{\Omega} \left[A \nabla f \nabla f + V f^2 \right] = \int\limits_{\Omega} \left[u^2 A \nabla (f/u) \nabla (f/u) + \frac{1}{u} f^2 \right]$$

$$+ \int_{\Omega} \frac{f}{u} \Big[A \nabla f \nabla u - A \nabla u \nabla f \Big] \quad (3.7)$$

holds. In particular, if A is symmetric, the last integral vanishes for any f.

Remark 3.11. Since $\frac{1}{u}$ necessarily blows up near $\partial\Omega$, the finiteness of the integrals in the right-hand side of (3.7) is not trivial.

Proof of Lemma 3.10. Step 1: Case of $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Since $V \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ and Ω is bounded, then $\mathfrak{D} = W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ by Lemma 3.3, and by the Hölder continuity of u and the strong maximum principle, we have that $\frac{1}{u} \in L^{\infty}(\operatorname{supp} f)$. Then it is easy to see that f^2/u belongs to \mathfrak{D} since $\frac{1}{u} \in L^{\infty}(\operatorname{supp} f)$ and $\nabla u \in L^2(\Omega)$. Thus we may use f^2/u as a test function in the identity $\mathfrak{l}(u,\varphi) = \langle 1,\varphi \rangle$ to see that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[A \nabla u \nabla (f^2/u) + V f^2 \right] = \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} f^2. \tag{3.8}$$

Using the product rule we may rewrite the first term of (3.8) as follows:

$$A\nabla u\nabla(f^2/u) = A\nabla f\nabla f - u^2A\nabla(f/u)\nabla(f/u) + \frac{f}{u}\Big[A\nabla u\nabla f - A\nabla f\nabla u\Big]. \tag{3.9}$$

Putting the last two identities together yields (3.7) in this case.

Step 2: Finiteness of the integrals. We now show that (3.7) holds for $f \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$. Let $\{f_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be a family of functions in $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ such that $f_k \to f$ strongly in $W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$. In particular, there is a subsequence where $f_{k'} \to f$, $\nabla f_{k'} \to \nabla f$ pointwise a.e. in Ω as $k' \to \infty$, and for simplicity of notation we now take this subsequence to be the whole sequence. Observe that (3.7) is true with f replaced by f_k , for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$. By using the Cauchy inequality with $\varepsilon > 0$ and (1.2), we easily obtain the pointwise estimate

$$\left| 2 \frac{f_k}{u} A \nabla u \nabla f_k \right| \le \frac{f_k^2}{u^2} A \nabla u \nabla u + \frac{1}{\lambda^4} A \nabla f_k \nabla f_k.$$

Since

$$A\nabla u\nabla(f_k^2/u) = 2\frac{f_k}{u}A\nabla u\nabla f_k - \frac{f_k^2}{u^2}A\nabla u\nabla u, \qquad (3.10)$$

it therefore follows that

$$A\nabla u\nabla (f_k^2/u) \le \frac{1}{\lambda^4}A\nabla f_k\nabla f_k.$$

We now plug this last estimate in (3.8) to see that

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} f_k^2 \le \int_{\Omega} \left[\frac{1}{\lambda^4} A \nabla f_k \nabla f_k + V f_k^2 \right], \quad \text{for each } k \in \mathbb{N}.$$
 (3.11)

Let us point out that for any $j, \ell \in \mathbb{N}$, $f_j - f_\ell \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, and thus we may obtain (3.11) with f_k replaced by $f_j - f_\ell$. Since $\{f_k\}$ is Cauchy in $W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$, this implies that $\{f_k\}$ is Cauchy in $L^2(\Omega, \frac{1}{u} dx)$. It follows that $\frac{1}{u} f^2 \in L^1(\Omega)$, and $\frac{1}{u} f_k^2 \to \frac{1}{u} f^2$ in $L^1(\Omega)$.

Now we investigate the finiteness of the rest of the integrals in (3.7). For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we use (3.8) and (3.10) to obtain the identity

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[\frac{f_k^2}{u^2} A \nabla u \nabla u - 2 \frac{f_k}{u} A \nabla u \nabla f_k \right] = \int_{\Omega} \left(V - \frac{1}{u} \right) f_k^2. \tag{3.12}$$

The right-hand side of (3.12) has a limit as $k \to \infty$, whence it must be the case that the left-hand side also has a limit. In particular, there exists $C \in [0, \infty)$ such that

$$\int\limits_{\Omega} \left[\frac{f_k^2}{u^2} A \nabla u \nabla u - 2 \frac{f_k}{u} A \nabla u \nabla f_k \right] \le C, \quad \text{for all } k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Now we may use the Cauchy inequality with $\varepsilon > 0$ to see that

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} 2 \frac{f_k}{u} A \nabla u \nabla f_k \right| \le \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \frac{f_k^2}{u^2} A \nabla u \nabla u + \frac{2}{\lambda^3} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla f_k|^2, \quad \text{for all } k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Therefore the estimate

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{f_k^2}{u^2} A \nabla u \nabla u \le 2C + \frac{4}{\lambda^3} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla f_k|^2 \le C'$$
(3.13)

holds for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, and C' > 0 is uniform in k. By Fatou's Lemma it follows that $\frac{f^2}{u^2}A\nabla u\nabla u \in L^1(\Omega)$, and similarly we obtain that $\frac{f}{u}A\nabla u\nabla f$, $\frac{f}{u}A\nabla f\nabla u \in L^1(\Omega)$. Then, by (3.9) and (3.10), we also conclude that $u^2A\nabla(f/u)\nabla(f/u) \in L^1(\Omega)$, and thus every integral in (3.7) is finite.

Step 3: Passing to the limit. It remains to pass the identity (3.7), currently shown for f replaced by f_k , to the limit as $k \to \infty$. To this end, we first show that $\frac{f_k}{u} |\nabla u| \nabla f_k| \to \frac{f}{u} |\nabla u| |\nabla f|$ in $L^1(\Omega)$. Since $\frac{f}{u} |\nabla u| \in L^2(\Omega)$, $\{\frac{f_k}{u} |\nabla u|\}$ is uniformly bounded in $L^2(\Omega)$, and

$$\begin{split} \Big| \int\limits_{\Omega} \frac{|f_k|}{u} |\nabla u| |\nabla f_k| - \int\limits_{\Omega} \frac{|f|}{u} |\nabla u| |\nabla f| \Big| &\leq \int\limits_{\Omega} \frac{|f_k|}{u} |\nabla u| |\nabla f_k - \nabla f| \, + \, \Big| \int\limits_{\Omega} \frac{|f_k| - |f|}{u} |\nabla u| |\nabla f| \Big| \\ &\leq \Big\| \frac{|f_k|}{u} |\nabla u| \Big\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \|\nabla f_k - \nabla f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \, + \, \Big| \int\limits_{\Omega} \frac{|f_k| - |f|}{u} |\nabla u| |\nabla f| \Big|, \end{split}$$

by [37, Exercise 2.21], we reach the desired conclusion if we prove that $\frac{|f_k|}{u}|\nabla u| \to \frac{|f|}{u}|\nabla u|$ weakly in $L^2(\Omega)$. But if $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, then $\frac{1}{u}|\nabla u| \in L^2(\operatorname{supp}\varphi)$ and therefore

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \frac{|f_k| - |f|}{u} |\nabla u| \varphi \right| \le \|f_k - f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \|\frac{1}{u} |\nabla u| \varphi\|_{L^2(\operatorname{supp} \varphi)} \longrightarrow 0$$

as $k \to \infty$, whence $\frac{|f_k|}{u} |\nabla u \to \frac{|f|}{u} |\nabla u|$ weakly in $L^2(\Omega)$, and our claim is shown. Then, by the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem and the boundedness of A, we have that

$$\frac{f_k}{u}A\nabla u\nabla f_k \to \frac{f}{u}A\nabla u\nabla f, \qquad \frac{f_k}{u}A\nabla f_k\nabla u \to \frac{f}{u}A\nabla f\nabla u$$

in $L^1(\Omega)$ as $k \to \infty$. Now we need only pass $I(f_k) := u^2 A \nabla(f_k/u) \nabla(f_k/u)$ to the limit in $L^1(\Omega)$. But in fact, by using $f_k - f_\ell$ in place of f_k in (3.7), we deduce that $0 \le I(f_k - f_\ell) = \mathscr{F}(f_k - f_\ell)$, where $\mathscr{F}(f_k - f_\ell) \to 0$ as $k, \ell \to \infty$, since we have already shown every other term in (3.7) can pass to the limit in $L^1(\Omega)$. The desired result follows. \square

The previous lemma allows us to show the uncertainty principle that the landscape function satisfies, for singular potentials.

Corollary 3.12 (Uncertainty Principle on bounded domains). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1, and assume that Ω is bounded. Then $\frac{1}{u} \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$, $\nabla \log u \in L^2_{loc}(\Omega)$, and for each $f \in \mathfrak{D}(\Omega)$, each of the integrands in (3.7) lies in $L^1(\Omega)$, and (refeq.unprinciple) holds. If we further assume that A is symmetric, then for each $f \in \mathfrak{D}(\Omega)$, we have that (2.4) holds.

Proof. If $V_N := \min\{V, N\}$, then $0 \le u \swarrow u_N := L_{V_N}^{-1} \mathbb{1}_{\Omega}$ pointwise a.e. in Ω , by virtue of Lemma 3.5 and Corollary 3.6. Then the estimate (2.3) follows by Fatou's lemma and the estimate (3.11) shown in the proof of Lemma 3.10. Since (2.3) holds for arbitrary $f \in \mathfrak{D}(\Omega) \subset W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$, we see that $\frac{1}{u} \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$. Moreover, from the proof of Lemma 3.10, we may similarly check that (3.13) implies $\nabla \log u \in L^2_{loc}(\Omega)$, and from there, the finiteness of each of the integrals in (3.7) follows. Finally, if A is symmetric, then (2.4) follows directly from (3.7) and Fatou's lemma. \square

We turn to the proof of our first main result.

Proof of Theorem 2.1. The statement (i) follows from the weak maximum principle. Proof of (ii) (\iff). Suppose that (2.2) holds. Fix $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, let $x_0 \in \Omega$ be as in (i), and let $R > R_0$ with R_0 large enough so that supp $\varphi \subset \Omega_{\lfloor R_0/2 \rfloor}$. By the weak maximum principle and the Green's representation formula (3.5), it is easy to see that for a.e. $x \in \Omega_R$, $G_R(x,y) \leq G(x,y)$ for a.e. $y \in \Omega_R$. Let B be any ball such that $2B \subset \Omega_{R_0}$. By the De Giorgi-Nash-Moser estimate¹⁷ [41, Theorem 4.1], we have that for all $R > R_0$,

¹⁷ If n=1, we get the same conclusion by Morrey's inequality.

$$||u_R||_{L^{\infty}(B)} \le C_B \Big[||u_R||_{L^q(2B)} + 1 \Big] = C_B \Big[\Big\| \int_{\Omega_R} G_R(x, y) \, dy \Big\|_{L^q(2B, dx)} + 1 \Big]$$

$$\le C_B \Big[\Big\| \int_{\Omega} G(x, y) \, dy \Big\|_{L^q(2B, dx)} + 1 \Big] \le \tilde{C}_B \quad (3.14)$$

where we have used (2.2), and the constant \tilde{C}_B does not depend on R. Since supp φ is compact, we may cover it by finitely many balls B of bounded radius rad $(B) \approx 1$ and such that $2B \subset \Omega_{R_0}$. Then, from (3.14) we may furnish the estimate

$$||u_R||_{L^{\infty}(\operatorname{supp}\varphi)} \le C_{\varphi}, \quad \text{for each } R > R_0.$$
 (3.15)

This estimate implies that u, defined via (2.1), is essentially bounded in $\operatorname{supp} \varphi$. With (3.15) at hand and via a similar covering argument, the Caccioppoli inequality Lemma 3.2 gives that $\{\nabla u_R\}_{R>R_0}$ is a uniformly bounded sequence in $L^2(\operatorname{supp} \varphi)$, so that a subsequence converges weakly in $L^2(\operatorname{supp} \varphi)$, say, to $\mathbf{g} \in L^2(\operatorname{supp} \varphi)^n$. Then we must have $\nabla u = \mathbf{g}$, and thus we must have that the whole sequence ∇u_R converges weakly to ∇u in $L^2(\operatorname{supp} \varphi)$. Moreover, by (2.1), (3.15), and the LDCT, we have that $Vu_R\varphi \to Vu\varphi$ in $L^1(\operatorname{supp} \varphi)$. Since u_R solves $Lu_R = 1$ weakly in Ω_{R_0} for each $R > R_0$, we may use the test function φ for all $R > R_0$ and pass to the limit $R \to \infty$ in the integral identity to see that

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[A \nabla u \nabla \varphi + V u \varphi \right] = \int_{\Omega} \varphi.$$

But because $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ was arbitrary, we have obtained the desired conclusion.

Proof of (ii) (\Longrightarrow). Assume that the function u of (2.1) lies in $W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega) \cap L^2_{loc}(\Omega, V dx)$ and solves the equation Lu=1 in the weak sense in Ω . Extend each G_R by 0 outside of its original domain of definition $\Omega_R \times \Omega_R$, and observe that by the weak maximum principle, for a.e. $x \in \Omega$, $\{G_R(x,y)\}_{R>1}$ is a monotone non-decreasing sequence of functions in y. Hence, for a.e. $x \in \Omega$, let $J(x,y) := \lim_{R \to \infty} G_R(x,y) = \limsup_{R \to \infty} G_R(x,y)$, and by the weak maximum principle again it is easy to see that $0 \le J(x,y) \le G(x,y)$.

Fix a ball B such that $2B \subset \Omega$, and let R_0 be so large that $2B \subset \Omega_{R_0}$. Since Lu = 1 in the weak sense in Ω , then by the Moser estimate we have that $||u||_{L^{\infty}(B)} \leq C_B$. The Lebesgue Monotone Convergence Theorem lets us conclude that

$$\int_{\Omega} J(x,y) \, dy = \lim_{R \to \infty} \int_{\Omega_R} G_R(x,y) \, dy = u(x), \quad \text{for a.e. } x \in B,$$

whence $\int_{\Omega} J(x,y) dy \in L^{\infty}(B, dx)$. It remains only to check that $J \equiv G$ as a measurable function on $\Omega \times \Omega$. But, by considering arbitrary $f \in L_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, it may be checked, similarly as in the convergence argument in the proof of (ii) (\iff) (see also Lemma 3.5 and [62,

Lemma 5.31]), that $\int_{\Omega} J(x,y)f(y) dy = L_{\Omega}^{-1}f$. From this fact and the uniqueness of the Green's function, we conclude that $J \equiv G$. Then (2.2) holds with $q = \infty$.

Proof of (iii). Suppose that (2.2) holds. In the proof of (ii) (\Longrightarrow) we already saw that $u=\int_{\Omega}G(\cdot,y)\,dy$ a.e. on Ω . If Ω is bounded, by the uniqueness of the Green's function there is no conflict with Definition 3.9 of the landscape function on bounded domains. The uncertainty principles follow easily by Corollary 3.12 (and its proof), Fatou's lemma and the convergence properties of u_R to u. We omit further details. \square

We finish this section with a lower bound property for the landscape function in terms of the original potential V. When V and Ω are bounded, for a Neumann landscape function $u_{\mathfrak{N}}$ it is easy to obtain the estimate $u_{\mathfrak{N}} \geq \|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1}$ via the maximum principle [5, Proposition 3.2], but since the Dirichlet landscape function vanishes at the boundary, such an estimate cannot hold over Ω for our u. Nevertheless, it is still possible to find plenty of balls where the estimate holds up to a uniform multiplicative constant. We will use the following result heavily in the proof of the exponential decay estimate for Green's function for bounded potentials.

Proposition 3.13. Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1, assume that $n \geq 2$, that (2.2) holds, and that $V \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Then there exist constants $c_1, c_2 \in (0,1)$, depending only on n and λ , such that for any $x_0 \in \Omega$ with $B(x_0, 4\|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1/2}) \subset \Omega$, there exists $\tilde{x} \in B_0 := B(x_0, \|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1/2})$ so that

$$u(x) \ge c_1 ||V||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1} \quad \text{for every } x \in B(\tilde{x}, c_2 ||V||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1/2}).$$
 (3.16)

Proof. We first show that there exists a point $\tilde{x} \in B_0$ so that $u(\tilde{x}) > c \|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1}$, for c small enough. Fix a parameter $\mu \in (0,1)$, and suppose that $u \leq \mu \|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1}$ on B_0 . Fix any $f \in C_c^{\infty}(B_0)$, and by the uncertainty principle (2.3) we obtain that

$$\int_{B_0} |\nabla f|^2 \ge \lambda^5 \left[\frac{1}{\mu} - 1 \right] \|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \int_{B_0} |f|^2. \tag{3.17}$$

In particular, (3.17) must be valid for the cut-off function f given as $f \equiv 1$ on $\frac{1}{2}B_0$, $0 \le f \le 1$, and $|\nabla f| \le 2||V||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{1/2}$. From (3.17), it follows that $\mu^{-1} \le 1 + 2^{n+1}\lambda^{-5}$. Hence, if $\mu = 2^{-n-2}\lambda^5$, then there must exist $\tilde{x} \in B_0$ so that $u(\tilde{x}) > \mu||V||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1}$.

To finish the proof, we fix $\delta \in (0,1)$ and recall the Harnack inequality [39, Theorems 8.17 and 8.18] that u satisfies:

$$\sup_{x \in B(\tilde{x}, \delta \|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1/2})} u(x) \le \tilde{C} \Big[\inf_{x \in B(\tilde{x}, \delta \|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1/2})} u(x) + \frac{\delta^2}{\|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}} \Big], \tag{3.18}$$

where \tilde{C} depends only on n and λ , since the dependence on $(\|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{1/2})(\|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1/2}) = 1$ disappears.¹⁸ It follows that if $\delta = \sqrt{\mu/2\tilde{C}}$, then for any $x \in B(\tilde{x}, \delta \|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1/2})$,

$$u(x) \geq \frac{\mu}{\tilde{C}} \frac{1}{\|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}} - \frac{\delta^2}{\|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}} \geq \frac{\mu}{2\tilde{C}} \frac{1}{\|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}},$$

as desired. \Box

4. A priori exponential decay results for $-\operatorname{div} A\nabla + V$

Throughout this section, we take the setting of Theorem 2.1, and additionally, we assume that (2.2) holds, so that the landscape function u, as defined in (2.1), makes sense over Ω as a solution to the equation Lu = 1.

Let w be a non-negative, continuous function on Ω . Given an elliptic matrix \mathcal{A} , we denote the entries of \mathcal{A}^{-1} by $\mathcal{A}_{ij}^{-1}(x)$. We define the distance $\rho_{\mathcal{A}}(x,y,w)$ on Ω for the degenerate Riemannian metric $ds^2 = w(x) \sum \mathcal{A}_{ij}^{-1} dx_i dx_j$ by

$$\rho_{\mathcal{A}}(x,y,w) = \inf_{\gamma} \int_{0}^{1} \left(w(\gamma(t)) \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \mathcal{A}_{ij}^{-1}(\gamma(t)) \dot{\gamma}_{i}(t) \dot{\gamma}_{j}(t) \right)^{1/2} dt, \tag{4.1}$$

if \mathcal{A} is symmetric and continuous, where the infimum is taken over all absolutely continuous paths $\gamma:[0,1]\to\Omega$ such that $\gamma(0)=x$ and $\gamma(1)=y$. If the matrix \mathcal{A} is not symmetric or not continuous, then we will use the distance $\rho(x,y,w):=\rho_I(x,y,w)$, where I is the $n\times n$ identity matrix. The main reason to take the assumption of continuity when \mathcal{A} is symmetric is that it will allow us a quantitative bound with no dependence on the ellipticity constants. If \mathcal{A} is not symmetric, we have already introduced quantitative dependence on the ellipticity constants in Corollary 3.12, so in this case we do not bother with the continuity assumption.

Lemma 4.1 ([1], Theorem 4, p.18). Suppose that A is a, symmetric, continuous, elliptic matrix, and let w be a non-negative, continuous function on Ω . If ϕ is real-valued and $|\phi(x) - \phi(y)| \le \rho_A(x, y, w)$ for all $x, y \in M$, then ϕ is locally Lipschitz, and

$$A(x)\nabla\phi(x)\nabla\phi(x) \le w(x), \quad \text{for each } x \in M.$$
 (4.2)

In particular, we may choose $\phi = \rho(\cdot, E, w) := \inf_{y \in E} \rho(\cdot, y, w)$ for any nonempty $E \subset \Omega$.

Remark 4.2. If $V \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, then the landscape function u is locally Hölder continuous, and positive on Ω by virtue of the strong maximum principle, and so in the case of

¹⁸ Technically, the estimates as written in [39] allow a dependence on δ ; but as long as $\delta \in (0,1)$, this dependence can be ignored because the constant only grows when $\delta > 1$; see also the discussion after Theorem 8.20 in [39].

bounded potentials, we may take w=1/u with no issues. However, if we merely have $V \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$, then we may lose both the positivity and continuity of u. In fact, in this general case, we may have different representatives of u which agree pointwise a.e. on Ω , but their respective Agmon distances may be quite different. To fix this issue, we will always consider the representative \hat{u} pointwise given by

$$\hat{u}(x) := \lim_{N \to \infty} u_N(x), \quad \text{for each } x \in \Omega,$$

where for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$, u_N is the (Dirichlet) landscape function on Ω for the operator $-\operatorname{div} A\nabla + V_N$, $V_N := \min\{V, N\}$, as constructed in Theorem 2.1. The limit exists pointwise because $\{u_N\}$ is a monotone non-increasing family of functions on Ω . That \hat{u} solves $L\hat{u}=1$ on Ω and agrees with u as an element of $W_{\text{loc}}^{1,2}(\Omega)$ (where u is as defined in Theorem 2.1) is a consequence of our approximation results from Section 3. With this definition, we will let $w=1/\hat{u}$. Of course, if $V \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, then $u \equiv \hat{u}$ pointwise on Ω .

Proof of Theorem 2.2. Fix $f \in L_c^2(\Omega)$, and let us first show the estimate (2.6) when $V \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Write $\psi := L^{-1}f$, and for each $M \in \mathbb{N}$, let $\phi_M := \min\{M, \rho(x, \operatorname{supp} f, \frac{1}{u})\}$ and $g = e^{\varepsilon\phi_M}$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$. Then $g\psi \in \mathfrak{D}(\Omega)$: indeed, $g\psi \in L^2(\Omega, V dx)$ because $g \leq M$ on Ω , and since $\nabla(g\psi) = \varepsilon\psi e^{\varepsilon\phi_M}\nabla\phi + e^{\varepsilon\phi_M}\nabla\psi$, then $\nabla(g\psi) \in L^2(\Omega)$, because $\nabla\psi \in L^2(\Omega)$ and $|\nabla\phi|\psi \lesssim \frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}|\psi| \in L^2(\Omega)$ by (2.3). Using (2.3) with $g\psi$, we see that

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} g^2 |\psi|^2 \le C \int_{\Omega} \left[A \nabla(g\psi) \nabla(g\psi) + V g^2 |\psi|^2 \right]. \tag{4.3}$$

Observe that

$$A\nabla(g\psi)\nabla(g\psi) = \psi^2 A\nabla g\nabla g + g^2 A\nabla\psi\nabla\psi + \psi gA\nabla g\nabla\psi + \psi gA\nabla\psi\nabla g$$

$$\leq C\left[g^2 A\nabla\psi\nabla\psi + \psi^2 A\nabla g\nabla g\right]. \quad (4.4)$$

Now, since $g^2 A \nabla \psi \nabla \psi = A \nabla \psi \nabla (g^2 \psi) - 2g \psi A \nabla \psi \nabla g$, then

$$g^{2}A\nabla\psi\nabla\psi \le 2A\nabla\psi\nabla(g^{2}\psi) + C|\psi|^{2}A\nabla g\nabla g. \tag{4.5}$$

On the other hand, $g^2\psi \in \mathfrak{D}(\Omega)$, and we may write

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[A \nabla \psi \nabla (g^2 \psi) + V g^2 |\psi|^2 \right] = \int_{\Omega} g^2 f \psi. \tag{4.6}$$

Putting (4.3), (4.4), (4.5), and (4.6) together, it follows that

$$\int\limits_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} g^2 |\psi|^2 \le C \Big[\int\limits_{\Omega} \psi^2 A \nabla g \nabla g + \int\limits_{\Omega} g^2 |f\psi| \Big], \tag{4.7}$$

where C depends only on λ . From (4.7) and Lemma 4.1, we see that

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} e^{2\varepsilon\phi_M} \left[1 - \varepsilon C \right] \psi^2 \le C \int_{\text{supp } f} e^{2\varepsilon\phi_M} u f^2 + \frac{1}{4} \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} e^{2\varepsilon\phi_M} \psi^2,$$

whence, if $\varepsilon = 1/(2C)$, we obtain for each $M \in \mathbb{N}$ the estimate

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} e^{2\varepsilon\phi_M} \psi^2 \le C \int_{\Omega} u f^2$$

Then the desired estimate (2.6) for bounded V follows by Fatou's lemma.

We now consider the general case $V \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ for (2.6). Let $V_N := \min\{V, N\}$, and u_N the landscape function for L_{V_N} . Using Lemma 3.5, we have that $u_N \to u$ strongly in $L^2(\operatorname{supp} f)$, $u_N \searrow u$ pointwise as $N \to \infty$ and, under assumption (2.5), it can be shown that for each $x \in \Omega$, $\rho(x, \operatorname{supp} f, \frac{1}{u_N}) \to \rho(x, \operatorname{supp} f, \frac{1}{\hat{u}})$ as $N \to \infty$. Then (2.6) is obtained by Fatou's lemma.

The proof of (2.7) when A is symmetric and continuous is similar to the argument above, except no dependence on λ need be introduced. Following the argument as above, the required convergence as $M, N \to \infty$ of the first term on the left-hand side (2.7) follows by applications of Fatou's lemma, Cauchy inequality with $\varepsilon > 0$, the Dominated Convergence Theorem, and (2.4). We omit the details. \square

Remark 4.3. In (2.7), we may take $\alpha \in (0,1)$ either if Ω is bounded, or if we drop the first integral on the left-hand side of (2.7).

We now prove the exponential decay estimates of the integral kernels.

Proof of Theorem 2.3. We first prove (2.8). Fix $x_0, y_0 \in \Omega$ and let δ, ε be positive numbers, to be chosen later, with the constraint that $B(x_0, \delta) \cup B(y_0, \varepsilon) \subset \Omega$. Let $f := \mathbb{1}_{B(y_0, \varepsilon)}$. Then $f \in L_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, and therefore the identity

$$(L^{-1}f)(x) = \int_{\Omega} G(x,z)f(z) dz = \int_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} G(x,y) dz$$

holds for a.e. $x \in \Omega$. Then we may use (2.6) to see that

$$\int\limits_{\Omega} \frac{e^{2\alpha\rho(x,B(y_0,\varepsilon))}}{u(x)} \Big| \int\limits_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} G(x,z) \, dz \Big|^2 \, dx \leq \frac{1}{(1-\alpha^2)^2} \int\limits_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} u(y) \, dy.$$

Write $\rho(x) = \rho(x, B(y_0, \varepsilon))$. We have that

$$\begin{split} \Big| \int\limits_{B(x_0,\delta)} \int\limits_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} G(x,z) \, dz \, dx \Big|^2 \\ &= \Big| \int\limits_{B(x_0,\delta)} \left(\int\limits_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} G(x,z) \, dz \right) \frac{e^{\alpha \rho(x)}}{\sqrt{u(x)}} \sqrt{u(x)} e^{-\alpha \rho(x)} \, dx \Big|^2 \\ &\leq \Big\{ \int\limits_{B(x_0,\delta)} \frac{e^{2\alpha \rho(x)}}{u(x)} \Big| \int\limits_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} G(x,z) \, dz \Big|^2 \, dx \Big\} \Big\{ \int\limits_{B(x_0,\delta)} u(x) e^{-2\alpha \rho(x)} \, dx \Big\} \\ &\leq \Big\{ \frac{1}{(1-\alpha^2)^2} \int\limits_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} u(y) \, dy \Big\} \Big\{ \int\limits_{B(x_0,\delta)} u(x) e^{-2\alpha \rho(x)} \, dx \Big\}, \end{split}$$

where we used the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality and (2.6). Hence,

$$\int\limits_{B(x_0,\delta)} \int\limits_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} G(x,y)\,dy\,dx \leq \frac{1}{(1-\alpha^2)} \Big(\int\limits_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} u\Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big(\int\limits_{B(x_0,\delta)} ue^{-2\alpha\rho}\Big)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

or in other words,

$$\oint_{B(x_0,\delta)} \oint_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} G(x,y) \, dy \, dx \le \frac{1}{|B(0,1)|} \frac{1}{(1-\alpha^2)} \delta^{-\frac{n}{2}} \varepsilon^{-\frac{n}{2}} \Big(\oint_{B(y_0,\varepsilon)} u \Big)^{\frac{1}{2}} \Big(\oint_{B(x_0,\delta)} u e^{-2\alpha\rho} \Big)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

which finishes the proof of (2.8).

We now prove (2.9). Thus we take $n \geq 3$, $\delta = \varepsilon = ||V||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{-1/2}$ and assume that $B(x_0, 4\delta) \cap B(y_0, 4\varepsilon) = \varnothing$, $B(x_0, 4\delta) \cup B(y_0, 4\varepsilon) \subset \Omega$. In this case, the Green's function G is known (see [24], for instance) to be a continuous weak solution of the equation $LG(x, \cdot) = 0$ away from x, and moreover, it satisfies that $G(x, y) = G^T(y, x)$ for each $x, y \in \Omega$, $x \neq y$. Let \tilde{x} , \tilde{y} be the points associated to the balls $B(x_0, \delta), B(y_0, \varepsilon)$ from Proposition 3.13. By the Harnack inequality [39, Theorems 8.17 and 8.18] applied for $G(\cdot, y_0)$ and then for $G^T(\tilde{x}, \cdot)$, it is easy to see that $G(x_0, y_0) \approx G(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y})$. Similarly, we obtain that

$$G(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}) \lesssim \int_{B(\tilde{x}, c_2 \delta)} \int_{B(\tilde{y}, c_2 \varepsilon)} G(x, y) \, dy \, dx,$$

where c_2 is the constant from Proposition 3.13. By Proposition 3.13 again, we have that

$$\int_{B(\tilde{y},c_2\varepsilon)} u \lesssim u(\tilde{y}), \qquad \int_{B(\tilde{x},c_2\delta)} u \lesssim u(\tilde{x}).$$

By the Triangle inequality and Proposition 3.13, for all $x \in B(\tilde{x}, c_2\delta)$ we have that

$$\rho\left(x, B(y_0, \varepsilon), \frac{1}{u}\right) \ge \rho\left(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}, \frac{1}{u}\right) - C.$$

Therefore, (2.8) implies that

$$G(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}) \lesssim \sqrt{u(\tilde{y})} \sqrt{u(\tilde{x})} \|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{\frac{n}{2}} e^{-\alpha \rho(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}, \frac{1}{u})},$$
 (4.8)

which gives the desired result. \Box

Remark 4.4. Under the setting of Theorem 2.3, if $V \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ and Ω is bounded, then we may define a Neumann landscape function $u_{\mathfrak{N}}$ on Ω , via the operator with 0 Neumann boundary conditions, similarly as was done in Section 3. Using this landscape function, it is possible to obtain the following analogue of (2.9):

$$G_{\Omega}(x,y) \lesssim \|V\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}^{\frac{n}{2}} \sqrt{u_{\mathfrak{N}}(x)} \sqrt{u_{\mathfrak{N}}(y)} e^{-\alpha \rho(x,y,\frac{1}{u_{\mathfrak{N}}})}, \tag{4.9}$$

where G_{Ω} is the integral kernel for the (Dirichlet) solution operator L^{-1} on Ω . The proof of (4.9) is similar to (and simpler than) that of (2.9).

Remark 4.5. Take the assumptions of Theorem 2.3, $n \geq 3$, and suppose it were known that $U := \|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} < \infty$. Then we may use (2.8) with $\delta = \varepsilon = |x_0 - y_0|/3$ together with the fact that $\frac{1}{u} \geq \frac{1}{U}$ and the Moser estimate to obtain that

$$G(x_0, y_0) \lesssim \frac{1}{|x_0 - y_0|^n} U e^{-\frac{\alpha}{3} \frac{|x_0 - y_0|}{\sqrt{U}}},$$

whenever $B(x_0, 4\delta) \cup B(y_0, 4\varepsilon) \subset \Omega$. Now, if x_0, y_0 are such that $|x_0 - y_0|^2 > U$, then

$$G(x_0, y_0) \lesssim \frac{1}{|x_0 - y_0|^{n-2}} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{3} \frac{|x_0 - y_0|}{\sqrt{U}}}.$$

Otherwise, if $|x_0 - y_0|^2 \le U$, then we have by the domination of the Green's function by the fundamental solution $\Gamma(x_0, y_0)$ that

$$G(x_0, y_0) \lesssim \frac{1}{|x_0 - y_0|^{n-2}} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{3} \frac{|x_0 - y_0|}{\sqrt{U}}}.$$

Hence, in any case, we obtain that

$$G(x_0, y_0) \lesssim \frac{1}{|x_0 - y_0|^{n-2}} e^{-\frac{\alpha}{3} \frac{|x_0 - y_0|}{\sqrt{U}}},$$
 (4.10)

for each $x_0, y_0 \in \Omega$ such that $B(x_0, \frac{4}{3}|x_0 - y_0|) \cup B(y_0, \frac{4}{3}|x_0 - y_0|) \subset \Omega$. The implicit constant in (4.10) does not depend on u, V, U nor on Ω .

In order to study the exponential decay of eigenfunctions, we must first consider a non-homogeneous analogue of the operator L defined in Section 3.1. Recall that $\mathfrak{D}(\Omega)$ is the completion of $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ in the norm $\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{l}}$ given by (3.3).

Definition 4.6 (The non-homogeneous operator \mathcal{L}). We let $\mathcal{D}(\Omega)$ be the completion of $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ in the norm

$$\sqrt{\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{l}}^2 + \|\psi\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2}, \qquad \psi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega).$$

Following Ouhabaz [70] (see also Section 2.1 of [62] for more details), we may associate to the form \mathfrak{l} an unbounded operator $\mathscr{L}: \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}) \to L^2(\Omega)$ where

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}) = \Big\{ \psi \in \mathscr{D}(\Omega) \text{ such that there exists } f \in L^2(\Omega)$$

with
$$\mathfrak{l}(\psi,\varphi)=\langle f,\varphi\rangle_{L^2(\Omega)}$$
 for every $\varphi\in\mathscr{D}(\Omega)\Big\},\qquad \mathscr{L}\psi:=f.$

Then Proposition 1.22 in [70] applies and we conclude that \mathcal{L} is densely defined, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ the operator $\mathcal{L} + \varepsilon$ is invertible from $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L})$ into $L^2(\Omega)$, and its inverse $(\mathcal{L} + \varepsilon)^{-1}$ is a bounded operator on $L^2(\Omega)$. In addition,

$$\|\varepsilon(\mathscr{L}+\varepsilon)^{-1}f\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \leq \|f\|_{L^2(\Omega)}, \quad \text{for each } \varepsilon > 0, f \in L^2(\Omega).$$

For each $t \in (0, \infty)$, and $f \in L^2(\Omega)$, denote

$$V_t = V + \frac{1}{t^2}, \quad \mathcal{L}_t = \mathcal{L} + \frac{1}{t^2}, \quad \mathcal{R}_t f := (1 + t^2 \mathcal{L})^{-1} f = \frac{1}{t^2} \mathcal{L}_t^{-1} f$$

We call \mathcal{R}_t a resolvent of \mathcal{L} . Observe that $L_t(\mathcal{R}_t f) = \frac{1}{t^2} f$ in the weak sense. Let u_t be the landscape function of Theorem 2.1 for the operator $L_t = -\operatorname{div} A\nabla + (V + \frac{1}{t^2})$. The following result is not, strictly speaking, a corollary of Theorem 2.2, but its proof is essentially the same.

Corollary 4.7 (Exponential decay estimate for resolvents). Retain the setting and assumptions of Theorem 2.2. For each $t \in (0, \infty)$, let u_t and $\mathcal{R}_t f$ be as defined above. Then for all $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and $f \in L^2(\Omega)$ with compact support, we have the estimate

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u_t} e^{2\alpha \rho(\cdot, \operatorname{supp} f, \frac{1}{\tilde{u}_t})} |\mathscr{R}_t f|^2 \le C \frac{1}{t^4} \int_{\Omega} u_t f^2, \tag{4.11}$$

where C depends only on λ and α . Moreover, if A is symmetric and continuous, we have a corresponding analogue of (2.7).

Remark 4.8. Note that, for each t > 0, u_t can be replaced by u in (4.11).

Proof of Theorem 2.5. If A is symmetric, then the operator \mathcal{L} from Definition 4.6 is self-adjoint; moreover, simple coercivity arguments show that \mathcal{L} has no negative eigenvalues. The proof of the estimate (2.10) is essentially the same as that of (2.7) and (2.6) given above; one would need to use that $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L}) \subset \mathcal{D}(\Omega) \subset \mathfrak{D}(\Omega)$ and that $\rho(x, E, w) = 0$ for each $x \in E$. We omit further details. \square

5. Comparison to the Fefferman-Phong-Shen maximal function

We will heavily make use of the following properties of the maximal function m.

Proposition 5.1 (Properties of the Fefferman-Phong-Shen maximal function [79]). Retain the settings and assumptions of Theorem 2.7. Then

- (a) $0 < m(x) < \infty$ for every $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,
- (b) if $y \in B(x, C/m(x))$, then $m(y) \approx m(x)$.
- (c) there exists $k_0 > 0$ such that for any $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$,

$$m(y) \gtrsim \frac{m(x)}{\left[1 + |x - y|m(x)\right]^{\frac{k_0}{k_0 + 1}}}.$$

Proof of Theorem 2.7. First, since V is a Shen potential, then (2.2) is known to hold [62,79], so that the function u from Theorem 2.1 solves Lu=1 weakly in \mathbb{R}^n and $u=\int_{\mathbb{R}^n}\Gamma(\cdot,y)\,dy$, where Γ is the fundamental solution for the operator L. Now we show the lower bound for u. Fix $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. By [79, Lemma 4.8], 19 we have that

$$\Gamma(x,y) \ge \frac{c_n}{2|x-y|^{n-2}}, \quad \text{for each } y \in B\left(x, \frac{c}{m(x)}\right),$$

where c_n is the dimensional constant such that $\Gamma_{-\Delta} = \frac{c_n}{|x-y|^{n-2}}$. It follows that

$$u(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \Gamma(x, y) \, dy \ge \int_{B(x, c/m(x))} \Gamma(x, y) \, dy \gtrsim \int_{0}^{c/m(x)} \frac{1}{r^{n-2}} r^{n-1} \, dr \gtrsim \frac{1}{m^2(x)}.$$

We turn to the proof of the upper bound for u, which is more involved. First, note that by [62, Theorem 4.16], we may procure the estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} m^2(y) e^{2\varepsilon \rho(y, \text{supp } f, m^2)} |L^{-1} f(y)|^2 \, dy \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{m^2(y)} f^2(y) \, dy \tag{5.1}$$

¹⁹ See also [62, Lemma 7.17] for the case of $-\operatorname{div} A\nabla + V$.

for each $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with compact support.²⁰ Note that the landscape function u over \mathbb{R}^n is not a Lax-Milgram solution; however, we may write it as a sum of Lax-Milgram solutions by decomposing the constant function 1 into annuli; then we will exploit the fact that these decompositions exhibit exponential decay by virtue of (5.1) to finish the proof. Fix $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let $A_0 := B\left(x, \frac{1}{m(x)}\right)$, and for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ let $A_k := B\left(x, \frac{2^k}{m(x)}\right) \setminus B\left(x, \frac{2^{k-1}}{m(x)}\right)$. Write

$$f_k := \mathbb{1}_{A_k}, \qquad u_k := L^{-1} f_k, \qquad U_M := \sum_{k=0}^M u_k.$$

By the maximum principle, we have that $U_N \geq U_M$ whenever $N \geq M$. Moreover, since

$$u(z) = \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n} \Gamma(z, y) \, dy = \lim_{M \to \infty} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n} \Gamma(z, y) \sum_{k=0}^M \mathbb{1}_{A_k}(y) \, dy = \lim_{M \to \infty} U_M,$$

it follows that $U_M \nearrow u$ pointwise as $M \to \infty$.

We now estimate each $u_k(x)$. For $u_0(x)$, by (5.1) we have that

$$\int_{B(x,1/m(x))} u_0^2(y) \, dy \lesssim \int_{B(x,1/m(x))} \frac{1}{m^4(y)} \, dy \lesssim \frac{1}{m^4(x)} |B(x,1/m(x))|,$$

where we have also used the slowly-varying properties of m. Thus we have that

$$\left(\int_{B(x, 1/m(x))} u_0^2(y) \, dy \right)^{1/2} \lesssim \frac{1}{m^2(x)}.$$

Then, applying the Moser estimate for $-\operatorname{div} A\nabla w + Vw = 1$, we conclude that

$$u_0(x) \lesssim \frac{1}{m^2(x)}. (5.2)$$

Now let $k \geq 1$. Using (5.1), we see that

$$\begin{split} \int\limits_{B(x,1/m(x))} u_k^2(y) e^{2\varepsilon \rho(y, \operatorname{supp} f_k, m^2)} \, dy &\lesssim \frac{1}{m^2(x)} \int\limits_{A_k} \frac{1}{m^2(y)} \, dy \\ &\lesssim \frac{1}{m^4(x)} \int\limits_{A_k} \left[1 + |y - x| m(x) \right]^{\frac{a}{a+1}} \, dy &\lesssim \frac{1}{m^4(x)} \int\limits_{2^{k-1}/m(x)}^{2^k/m(x)} \left[1 + r m(x) \right]^{\frac{a}{a+1}} r^{n-1} \, dr \\ &\lesssim \frac{1}{m^4(x)} |B(x, 1/m(x))| 2^{2kn}, \end{split}$$

We may also prove (5.1) in a similar way as we proved (2.6).

where we have used the properties of m. Using these properties once again and the Moser estimate (note that u_k solves $-\operatorname{div} A\nabla w + Vw = 0$ in B(x, 1/m(x))), we obtain that

$$u_{k}(x) \lesssim \left(\int_{B(x,1/m(x))} u_{k}^{2}(y) \, dy\right)^{1/2} \lesssim \frac{1}{m^{2}(x)} 2^{kn} e^{-\varepsilon \rho(x, \operatorname{supp} f_{k}, m^{2})}$$

$$\lesssim \frac{1}{m^{2}(x)} 2^{kn} e^{-\varepsilon [1 + \operatorname{dist}(x, \operatorname{supp} f) m(x)]^{\frac{1}{a+1}}} \lesssim \frac{1}{m^{2}(x)} 2^{kn} e^{-\varepsilon 2^{\frac{k}{a+1}}}. \quad (5.3)$$

We are ready to collect our estimates. For each $M \in \mathbb{N}$, use (5.2) and (5.3) to see that

$$U_M(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{M} u_k(x) \lesssim \frac{1}{m^2(x)} \sum_{k=0}^{M} 2^{kn} e^{-\varepsilon 2^{\frac{k}{a+1}}} \lesssim \frac{1}{m^2(x)}.$$

Since $U_M(x) \nearrow u(x)$ and U_M is bounded by $1/m^2(x)$, the desired result follows.

6. Applications to the magnetic Schrödinger operator

6.1. The uncertainty principle for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ and a priori exponential decay results

First, let us prove the uncertainty principle for the magnetic Schrödinger operator via the landscape function for the operator \tilde{L} from (2.22).

Proof of Theorem 2.12. By assumption, we have that (perhaps after an orthonormal change of variables) $\Sigma_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{B} + V \geq 0$ on Ω . By the uncertainty principle (2.4), we may write, for any real-valued Lipschitz function g on Ω with compact support,

$$\int_{\Omega} u^2 |\nabla(g/u)|^2 + \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} g^2 \le \int_{\Omega} |\nabla g|^2 + (\Sigma_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{B} + V) g^2.$$
 (6.1)

It follows that, for any complex-valued $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, by taking g = |f|,

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u} |f|^2 \le \int_{\Omega} |\nabla |f||^2 + (\Sigma_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{B} + V)|f|^2 \le \int_{\Omega} |D_{\mathbf{a}} f|^2 + (\Sigma_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{B} + V)|f|^2, \tag{6.2}$$

where in the last inequality we used the diamagnetic inequality $|\nabla|f|| \leq |D_{\mathbf{a}}f|$. Now, define the commutator

$$[D_j, D_k] = D_j D_k - D_k D_j, (6.3)$$

and note that

$$b_{jk}(x)f(x) = -i([D_j, D_k]f)(x), \quad \text{for each } x \in \Omega.$$
(6.4)

Then, we may estimate the middle term of (6.2) as follows:

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\Omega} \Sigma_{\mathcal{S}} \mathbf{B}(x) |f(x)|^2 \, dx \right| &= \left| \sum_{(j',k') \in \mathcal{S}} \int_{\Omega} b_{j'k'}(x) f(x) \overline{f(x)} \, dx \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{(j',k') \in \mathcal{S}} \int_{\Omega} \left\{ (D_{j'} D_{k'} - D_{k'} D_{j'}) f \right\} \overline{f(x)} \, dx \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{(j',k') \in \mathcal{S}} \int_{\Omega} \left[-(D_{j'} D_{k'} f)(x) \overline{f(x)} + (D_{k'} D_{j'} f)(x) \overline{f(x)} \right] dx \right| \\ &= \left| \sum_{(j',k') \in \mathcal{S}} \int_{\Omega} \left[-D_{k'} f \overline{D_{j'} f} \right] + D_{j'} f \overline{D_{k'} f} \right] \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{(j',k') \in \mathcal{S}} \int_{\Omega} |D_{k'} f|^2 + |D_{j'} f|^2 \\ &= (n-1) \int_{\Omega} \sum_{k=1}^{n} |D_{k} f|^2 = (n-1) \int_{\Omega} |D_{\mathbf{a}} f|^2. \end{split}$$

The desired result follows. \Box

Operator-theoretic preliminaries Now, let us give the necessary setup for Theorem 2.16; see Section 2.1 of [62] for a more general setting, or more details. For the rest of this section, all functions are assumed complex-valued, unless explicitly mentioned otherwise. On $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ define the form

$$\mathfrak{a}(\psi,\varphi) = \int_{\Omega} \left[D_{\mathbf{a}} \psi \overline{D_{\mathbf{a}} \varphi} + V \psi \overline{\varphi} \right], \qquad \psi, \varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega).$$
 (6.5)

Under the assumptions of Theorem 2.16, we may prove, similar to Theorem 2.12, that

$$\int_{\Omega} V_{-}|\psi|^{2} \leq \frac{n-1}{n} \int_{\Omega} |D_{\mathbf{a}}\psi|^{2}, \quad \text{for each } \psi \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\Omega).$$
 (6.6)

It follows that

$$\int_{\Omega} V_{-}|\psi|^{2} \le (n-1)\mathfrak{a}(\psi,\psi), \quad \text{for each } \psi \in C_{c}^{\infty}(\Omega).$$
(6.7)

From (6.5), (6.6), (6.7), the diamagnetic inequality, and the fact that **a** and V are not both identically 0, we have that $\mathfrak{a}(\psi,\psi) \geq 0$, and $\mathfrak{a}(\psi,\psi) = 0$ implies $\psi \equiv 0$. Now, using (6.6), (6.7), and the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, it is easily seen that

$$|\mathfrak{a}(\psi,\varphi)| \leq 9n\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{a}}\|\varphi\|_{\mathfrak{a}},$$

where

$$\|\psi\|_{\mathfrak{a}} := \sqrt{\mathfrak{a}(\psi,\psi)}.$$

Moreover, from (2.24) and (6.7), we have that

$$\int_{\Omega} u_{\mathcal{S}}^2 \left| \nabla \left(\frac{|\psi|}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} \right) \right|^2 + \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} |\psi|^2 \le 2n(n-1) \int_{\Omega} \left[|D_{\mathbf{a}}\psi|^2 + V|\psi|^2 \right], \qquad \psi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega). \quad (6.8)$$

We may now set up Lax-Milgram solutions. Since the form \mathfrak{a} is symmetric and sesquilinear, we know that \mathfrak{a} is an inner product on $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$, and therefore $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{a}}$ is a norm on $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$. Now we let $\mathfrak{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega) = \mathfrak{D}_{\mathbf{a},V}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega)$ be the completion of $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathfrak{a}}$. Then $(\mathfrak{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega),\mathfrak{a})$ is a Hilbert space on which \mathfrak{a} is a bounded and coercive form. Then (6.6), (6.7), and (6.8) hold also for $\psi \in \mathfrak{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega)$. Let $L_{\mathbf{a},V} : \mathfrak{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega) \to (\mathfrak{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega))^*$ be the operator defined as follows: for $\psi \in \mathfrak{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega)$, $L_{\mathbf{a},V}\psi$ is the functional given by the rule $\langle L_{\mathbf{a},V}\psi,\varphi\rangle = \mathfrak{a}(\psi,\varphi)$ for any $\varphi \in \mathfrak{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega)$. Then, by the Lax-Milgram theorem, $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ is invertible. Via a compactness argument similar to the proof of (3.4), it can be shown that $L_c^q(\Omega) \subset (\mathfrak{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega))^*$ for $q > \max\{1, \frac{2n}{n+2}\}$. For $n \geq 3$, the existence of Green's function (as an integral kernel) for the operator $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ under our assumptions was shown in $[62, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{C}]$.

To set up eigenfunctions of the magnetic Schrödinger operator, we consider a non-homogeneous version of $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$, similar to Definition 4.6. Let $\mathscr{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega)$ be the completion of $C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ in the norm $\sqrt{\mathfrak{a}(\psi,\psi) + \|\psi\|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2}$. Then, in the terminology of [70], \mathfrak{a} is a densely defined, accretive, continuous, and closed sesquilinear form on $L^2(\Omega)$. We may thus associate to \mathfrak{a} an unbounded operator $\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}: \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}) \to L^2(\Omega)$ with

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}) &= \Big\{ \psi \in \mathscr{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega) \text{ such that there exists } f \in L^{2}(\Omega) \\ &\quad \text{with } \mathfrak{a}(\psi, \varphi) = \langle f, \varphi \rangle_{L^{2}(\Omega)} \text{ for every } \varphi \in \mathscr{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega) \Big\}, \qquad \mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}} \psi := f. \end{split}$$

Note that $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}) \subset \mathscr{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega) \subset L^{2}(\Omega)$. Then from Proposition 1.22 [70] we conclude that $\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ is densely defined, for every $\varepsilon > 0$ the operator $\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}} + \varepsilon$ is invertible from $\mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}})$ into $L^{2}(\Omega)$, and its inverse $(\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}} + \varepsilon)^{-1}$ is a bounded operator on $L^{2}(\Omega)$. In addition,

$$\|\varepsilon(\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}+\varepsilon)^{-1}f\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}\leq \|f\|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}, \quad \text{for each } \varepsilon>0, f\in L^{2}(\Omega).$$

In particular, $\mathcal{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ is self-adjoint, and has no negative eigenvalues.

 $^{^{21}}$ The proof there was for the fundamental solution; but it can be adapted to Lipschitz domains.

Proof of Theorem 2.16. We first prove (i); the technique is similar to that of Theorem 2.2, but the possible negative part of V is a bit cumbersome. We show how to obtain an analogue estimate to (4.7) when $\Sigma_S \mathbf{B} + V$ is bounded, from which the desired result in the full generality will follow in the same way as it did in the proof of (2.6). Fix $f \in L_c^2(\Omega)$, and $\psi := L_{\mathbf{a},V}^{-1}f$. If $g = e^{\phi}$ where ϕ is Lipschitz and bounded, then $g\psi, g^2\psi \in \mathfrak{D}^{\mathfrak{a}}(\Omega)$. By the Cauchy inequality with $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$|D_{\mathbf{a}}(g\psi)|^2 \le (1+\varepsilon)g^2|D_{\mathbf{a}}\psi|^2 + C_{\varepsilon}|\nabla g|^2|\psi|^2. \tag{6.9}$$

On the other hand, $D_{\mathbf{a}}\psi \overline{D_{\mathbf{a}}(g^2\psi)} = g^2|D_{\mathbf{a}}\psi|^2 + 2g\overline{\psi}\nabla gD_{\mathbf{a}}\psi$, so in turn we have

$$g^{2}|D_{\mathbf{a}}\psi|^{2} \leq \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon} \Re \left\{D_{\mathbf{a}}\psi \overline{D_{\mathbf{a}}(g^{2}\psi)}\right\} + C_{\varepsilon}|\nabla g|^{2}|\psi|^{2}. \tag{6.10}$$

Moreover, since $L_{\mathbf{a},V}\psi = f$, then

$$\int_{\Omega} D_{\mathbf{a}} \psi \overline{D_{\mathbf{a}}(g^2 \psi)} = \int_{\Omega} f g^2 \overline{\psi} - \int_{\Omega} V g^2 |\psi|^2. \tag{6.11}$$

Putting together (6.9), (6.10), and (6.11), we see that

$$\int_{\Omega} |D_{\mathbf{a}}(g\psi)|^2 \le \frac{1+\varepsilon}{1-\varepsilon} \int_{\Omega} V_{-}g^2 |\psi|^2 - \frac{1+\varepsilon}{1-\varepsilon} \int_{\Omega} V_{+}g^2 |\psi|^2 + C_{\varepsilon} \Big[\int_{\Omega} g^2 |f| |\psi| + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla g|^2 |\psi|^2 \Big]. \tag{6.12}$$

Using (6.6) now, we may choose ε small (depending only on n) so that the first term on the right-hand side of (6.12) can be absorbed to the left-hand side. Consequently, from this estimate and the uncertainty principle (2.24), we obtain that

$$\int_{\Omega} u_{\mathcal{S}}^2 \left| \nabla \left(\frac{g|\psi|}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} \right) \right|^2 + \int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} g^2 |\psi|^2 \le C_n \left[\int_{\Omega} g^2 |f| |\psi| + \int_{\Omega} |\nabla g|^2 |\psi|^2 \right]. \tag{6.13}$$

From (6.13), it is not hard to conclude the proof of (i).

The proof of (ii) follows similarly, using the estimate (6.13); we skip the details.

We turn to (iii). Since $G_{\mathbf{a},V}$ is in general complex-valued, the method of proof of (2.9) will not work here. Instead, we follow a method of proof similar to Shen's upper bound exponential decay estimate [79]; see also [62, Section 6]. To start, fix a ball $B \subset \Omega$, let $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega \backslash 2B; \mathbb{R})$ with $\varphi \equiv 0$ on 2B, and note that if $\psi \in L^2_{\text{loc}}(\Omega \backslash B)$ and $D_{\mathbf{a}}\psi \in L^2_{\text{loc}}(\Omega \backslash B)$ with $L_{\mathbf{a},V}\psi = 0$ in the weak sense on $\Omega \backslash B$, then using (6.13), we may prove that

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{1}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} \varphi^2 |\psi|^2 g^2 \le C_n \int_{\Omega} g^2 |\nabla \varphi|^2 |\psi|^2, \tag{6.14}$$

where $g=e^{\varepsilon\phi}$, and ϕ is Lipschitz, real, and bounded on Ω . Fix x,y,B_x,B_y as in the statement of (iii), and let \tilde{x},\tilde{y} be the points associated to the balls B_x,B_y from Proposition 3.13. Note that $L_{\mathbf{a},V}G_{\mathbf{a},V}(\cdot,\tilde{y})=0$ in the weak sense in $\Omega\backslash B(\tilde{y},\frac{c_2}{4}\mathbf{B}_{\infty}^{-1/2})=\Omega\backslash \tilde{B}$, where c_2 is the constant from Proposition 3.13. Fix $M\in\mathbb{N}$ large and choose $\varphi\in C_c^\infty(B(\tilde{y},2M))$ as the cut-off function $0\leq\varphi\leq 1,\ \varphi\equiv 0$ on $2\tilde{B},\ |\nabla\varphi|\lesssim 2\mathbf{B}_{\infty}^{1/2}$ on $4\tilde{B}\backslash 2\tilde{B},\ \varphi\equiv 1$ on $B(\tilde{y},M)\backslash 4\tilde{B},$ and $|\nabla\varphi|\lesssim 2/M$ on $B(\tilde{y},2M)\backslash B(\tilde{y},M)$. Use (6.14) with $\psi=G(\cdot,\tilde{y})$ and φ as described above; then, since $G_{\mathbf{a},V}$ satisfies (2.25), we eventually obtain

$$\int_{\hat{B}} \frac{1}{u_{\mathcal{S}}} |G(\cdot, \tilde{y})|^2 e^{2\varepsilon\phi} \le C_n \mathbf{B}_{\infty} \int_{4\tilde{B}\setminus 2\tilde{B}} e^{2\varepsilon\phi} |G(\cdot, \tilde{y})|^2, \tag{6.15}$$

after passing $M \to \infty$ (see [62, Section 6] for more details on a similar argument), and where $\hat{B} := B(\tilde{x}, c_2 \mathbf{B}_{\infty}^{-1/2})$. Moreover, by an approximation argument as in the proof of Theorem 2.2, we may now without loss of generality take $\phi = \rho(\cdot, \tilde{y}, \frac{1}{u_S})$ in (6.15). From Proposition 3.13, we have that $u_S(z) \approx u_S(\tilde{x})$ for $z \in \hat{B}$, and $u_S(w) \approx u_S(\tilde{y})$ for $w \in 4\tilde{B}$; we also have that $\max\{\rho(z, \tilde{x}, \frac{1}{u_S}), \rho(w, \tilde{y}, \frac{1}{u_S})\} \leq C$ for $z \in \hat{B}, w \in 4\tilde{B}$, respectively. Putting all these observations together, as well as (2.25) and (3.16), into (6.15) yields that

$$\left(\int_{\hat{B}} |G(\cdot, \tilde{y})|^2\right)^{1/2} \le C_n \mathbf{B}_{\infty}^{n/2} \sqrt{u_{\mathcal{S}}(\tilde{x})} \sqrt{u_{\mathcal{S}}(\tilde{y})} e^{-\varepsilon \rho(\tilde{x}, \tilde{y}, \frac{1}{u_{\mathcal{S}}})},$$

which gives (2.27) using scale-invariant local boundedness [62, Definition 6.1]. \square

Remark 6.1. Under the assumptions of (iii), if Ω is bounded then as in Remark 4.4 we may consider instead a Neumann landscape function $u_{\mathfrak{N},\mathcal{S}}$. Using this Neumann landscape function, it is possible to prove (2.27) directly with x and y, without passing to \tilde{x}, \tilde{y} . This is because $u_{\mathfrak{N},\mathcal{S}} \geq \mathbf{B}_{\infty}^{-1}$ on Ω .

Remark 6.2. It is clear that one may also get an exponential decay estimate for resolvents of $\mathcal{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ similar to that of Corollary 4.7.

6.2. The solutions to Shen's problems, and other corollaries

Here, we describe some results which are almost "free" from the methods in the literature when combined with the uncertainty principle Corollary 2.18 under the favored directionality assumptions. This list of corollaries is not exhaustive; several other results of independent interest from the literature are also recovered under our setting of irregular magnetic fields, but we have chosen to highlight only a select few, for the sake of brevity. Let us emphasize that the heavy lifting of the results in this section was done by the respective cited authors. In each of the following corollaries, there is an underlying

landscape function $u_{\mathcal{S}}$, but we choose to work exclusively with the Fefferman-Phong-Shen maximal function (1.3), to emphasize the connection to the corresponding results in the literature; of course, due to Theorem 2.7, there is essentially no difference in working with m^2 or with 1/u, for Shen potentials. For literature on the results related to the corollaries presented here, we kindly direct the reader to the papers cited in each corollary.

We begin with the exponential decay of the fundamental solution for Shen potentials.

Corollary 6.3 (Exponential decay of the fundamental solution; [62, Corollary 6.16]). Let $n \geq 3$, and $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$. Assume that $\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{B}, V$ satisfy (2.18) and (2.19), and that Assumption 2.15 holds. Moreover, suppose that S is an admissible selection such that $\Sigma_S \mathbf{B} + V$ is a non-degenerate Shen potential. Then there exist $\varepsilon > 0$ and $C \geq 1$, depending only on n, C_0 , C_1 , δ , and the constants from Assumption 2.15, such that for a.e. $x, y \in \Omega$,

$$|\Gamma_{\mathbf{a},V}(x,y)| \le \frac{C}{|x-y|^{n-2}} e^{-\varepsilon \rho(x,y,m^2(\cdot,\Sigma_{\mathcal{S}}\mathbf{B}+V))}.$$
(6.16)

In particular, if $V \ge 0$ and (2.20) holds, then there exists S so that $|\mathbf{B}| = \Sigma_S \mathbf{B}$.

The condition (1.9) was used in [62] to prove (6.16) only to verify that the uncertainty principle (2.28) is true; we have seen that under the favored directionality assumption (2.19), we can recover (2.28) without either assumption (1.9) or (1.10). The rest of the proof in [62, Section 6] remains unchanged, giving us (6.16) in our situation.

Remark 6.4. We can also obtain exponential decay estimates for heat kernels [54] under assumptions similar to those of Corollary 6.3, with no assumption on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$.

In Theorem 2.16 (ii), we have shown an a priori L^2 exponential decay estimate for eigenfunctions of $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$. The following result tells us that under further assumptions, exponential decay in the Agmon distance with $1/u_{\mathcal{S}}$ implies exponential decay in the Euclidean distance. The proof is similar to those of [75, Theorem 0.20] and (2.26).

Corollary 6.5 (Exponential decay of eigenfunctions for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$; [75, Theorem 0.20]). Let $n \geq 3$, and $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$. Assume that $\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{B}, V$ satisfy (2.18) and (2.20), and that $V \geq 0$. Moreover, suppose that $|\mathbf{B}| + V$ is a non-degenerate Shen potential, and that there exist $\mu > 0$ and $\psi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L}^{\mathfrak{a}})$ with $\mathcal{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}\psi = \mu\psi$. Let $E_{\sigma} := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : m^2(x, |\mathbf{B}| + V) \leq \sigma\}$. Then there exist $\varepsilon > 0$ and $C \geq 1$, depending only on n, C_0 , C_1 , δ , such that

$$|\psi(x)| \le C\mu^{n/2}e^{-\varepsilon\rho(x,E_{C\mu},m^2(\cdot,|\mathbf{B}|+V))}\|\psi\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)}, \quad \text{for each } x \in \Omega, \qquad \text{if } \mu \ge C.$$

As remarked in Section 2.3, Assumption 2.15 holds, in particular, if $V \ge 0$ and (2.18) is true.

Now, we turn to bounds on the eigenvalue counting function, when $V \geq 0$. For $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$, let $N(\mu, L_{\mathbf{a}, V})$ be the dimension of the spectral projection for $\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mathbf{a}, V}$ (see Section 6.1) corresponding to the interval $(-\infty, \mu)$. When $N(\mu, L_{\mathbf{a}, V})$ is finite for a given μ , $N(\mu, L_{\mathbf{a}, V})$ is in particular the number of eigenvalues (counting multiplicity) of $\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mathbf{a}, V}$ smaller than μ . In the case that $V \geq 0$, $\mathscr{L}^{\mathfrak{a}}_{\mathbf{a}, V}$ has no negative eigenvalues. Given $\mu > 0$, let $\{Q_j\}_j$ be a grid of mutually disjoint cubes on \mathbb{R}^n of sidelength $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\mu}}$, and let $\tilde{N}(\mu)$ be the number of cubes Q_j such that

$$\left(\int_{Q_j} |\mathbf{B}|^{n/2}\right)^{2/n} + \left(\int_{Q_j} V^{n/2}\right)^{2/n} < \mu. \tag{6.17}$$

Corollary 6.6 (Bounds on the eigenvalue counting function; [78, Main Theorem and Remark 4.2]). Let $n \geq 3$, $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$, and suppose that the operator $L_{\mathbf{a},0}$ on \mathbb{R}^n satisfies (2.18) and (2.20). Let $V \geq 0$ and assume that $|\mathbf{B}| + V \in RH_{n/2}$. Then there exist c_1, c_2 , depending only on n and the $RH_{n/2}$ characteristic of $|\mathbf{B}| + V$, so that for every $\mu > 0$,

$$\tilde{N}(c_1\mu) \le N(\mu, L_{\mathbf{a}, V}) \le \tilde{N}(c_2\mu). \tag{6.18}$$

As in the previous results, the main issue to obtain the above corollary without any assumption on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$ was an uncertainty principle (2.28). Note that only the upper bound is new here, as the lower bound is already proved in [78] in a generality that includes our setting. In Remark 4.2 of [78], Z. Shen shows how one can use an uncertainty principle to restore the argument for the main theorem. Then it is an exercise to check that his Lemma 4.1 still works (with proper modifications) in this setting; to check that Lemma 4.1 still works, we mention that it is useful to recall the well-known fact that if $w \in RH_{n/2}$, then $w \in RH_{\frac{n}{2}+\varepsilon}$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$ determined by the $RH_{n/2}$ characteristic of w. Note that we do not need to assume (6.21) for this result.

Since Corollary 6.6 extends to $n \geq 3$ the bounds on the eigenvalue counting function of Shen [78] under a "sign" assumption on **B** (that is, the strong favored directionality assumption (2.20)), while removing the condition (1.9) or any other condition on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$, we see that Corollary 6.6 gives a solution to Problem 1.2. Example 2.11 is an explicit magnetic potential which satisfies the hypotheses of the corollary. We also note that Corollary 6.6 is very much related to recent landscape laws for non-magnetic Schrödinger operators [3,25], which give bounds on the integrated density of states in terms of a landscape function.

Next, we show an analogue of [77, Theorem 0.11]. If V_{-} is non-trivial, then $\mathcal{L}_{\mathbf{a},V}^{\mathfrak{a}}$ may have negative eigenvalues. The following result gives an upper bound on the number of such negative eigenvalues.

Corollary 6.7 (An upper bound on the number of negative eigenvalues of $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$; [77, Theorem 0.11]). Let $n \geq 3$, $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$, and suppose that the operator $L_{\mathbf{a},0}$ on \mathbb{R}^n satisfies (2.18) and (2.20) (with $V \equiv 0$). Moreover, let $V \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for some p > 1, and assume that

 $|\mathbf{B}| \in RH_{n/2}$. Then there exist C, which depend only on n, and $c, \alpha > 0$, which depends only on n, p, and the $RH_{n/2}$ characteristic of $|\mathbf{B}|$, such that, for $\mu \leq 0$,

$$N(\mu, L_{\mathbf{a}, V}) \leq CN_0$$

where N_0 is the number of minimal disjoint dyadic cubes Q which satisfy

$$\ell(Q)^2 \left(\oint_Q |V|^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \ge c, \qquad \ell(Q) < \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mu}},$$

and

$$\ell(Q) < \inf_{x \in Q} \frac{\alpha}{m(x, |\mathbf{B}|)}. \tag{6.19}$$

The condition (1.9) in [77] was most saliently used to obtain the uncertainty principle (2.28) and the decay of the fundamental solution. In our situation, we have already seen that we recover both the uncertainty principle and the exponential decay of the fundamental solution Corollary 6.3. Note that in [77], the number N_0 in Theorem 0.11 is defined using the condition

$$\ell(Q)^2 \left(\int_{\Omega} |\mathbf{B}|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \le 1,\tag{6.20}$$

instead of (6.19). In fact (see [77, Remark 0.18]), the definition of N_0 with (6.19) is enough to prove the theorem, and if \hat{N}_0 is defined in the same way as N_0 but with (6.20) in place of (6.19), then $N_0 \lesssim \hat{N}_0$ whenever we have that

$$|\mathbf{B}(x)| \le C_2 m(x, |\mathbf{B}|)^2.$$
 (6.21)

The inequality (6.21) is true if (1.9) holds and $|\mathbf{B}| \in RH_{n/2}$, but the novelty of our corollary is that we replace (1.9) with the favored directionality assumption (2.20). If we further assumed that (6.21) is true (which does not place any assumptions on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$ either), then we could state Corollary 6.7 with \hat{N}_0 instead of N_0 , as it is stated in [77].

Actually, (6.21) is used within the proof of [77, Theorem 0.11] non-trivially, to bound the contribution of a carefully crafted gauge transform \mathbf{h}^j on a cube Q_j (see [77, p. 659]). However, we may instead obtain the desired bound by following the method of [78, Lemma 4.1], and using (6.19) and the definition of $m(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}|)$, provided that α is small (depending on allowable constants).

Note we have obtained an appropriate analogue of [77, Theorem 0.11] with no assumptions on $\nabla \mathbf{B}$, and Example 2.11 shows that Corollary 6.7 has content. This resolves Conjecture 1.1.

6.3. An uncertainty principle for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ with a good transition region

Lastly, we remark about the applicability of the landscape function (2.23) when $V \ge 0$ but the magnetic field does not satisfy the favored directionality assumption (2.19) everywhere on \mathbb{R}^n . As mentioned in the introduction, a scale-invariant regularity condition on the direction of the magnetic field has been used to obtain uncertainty principles, and the condition (1.9) of Z. Shen essentially fulfills this role. Let us first see that if (1.9) is satisfied over the whole domain, then we may still construct a landscape function.

Example 6.8 (A landscape function for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ under Shen's assumptions). Suppose that **B** is a magnetic field which is a non-degenerate Shen potential and that satisfies the assumption (1.9), so that its direction is slowly varying, in particular. In this case, instead of considering the landscape of the operator (2.22), take u to be instead the landscape function of the operator

$$-\Delta + |\mathbf{B}| + V$$
, so that $-\Delta u + |\mathbf{B}|u + Vu = 1$. (6.22)

By Theorem 2.7, $\frac{1}{u(x)} \approx m^2(x, |\mathbf{B}| + V)$, and in this case we also have the uncertainty principle [75, Theorem 2.7]

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{u} |f|^2 \le C \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |D_{\mathbf{a}} f|^2 + V |f|^2 \right], \quad \text{for any } f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n),$$
 (6.23)

where C depends on n, C_0 , C_1 , and δ . \square

Now let us describe a situation where we may obtain a landscape function and an uncertainty principle over \mathbb{R}^n if there is a "good transition" region between two subsets of \mathbb{R}^n where our stronger directionality assumption (2.20) is satisfied. Our assumptions are by no means optimal, but the point is to illustrate the fact that the favored directionality assumptions can be considered alongside with regularity assumptions to establish uncertainty principles.

Theorem 6.9 (A landscape for $L_{\mathbf{a},V}$ with a transition region). Let $n \geq 3$, $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$, $\mathbf{B} \in RH_{n/2}$ such that $|\mathbf{B}| \geq 1$, and take $V \equiv 0$. Assume that $\mathbb{R}^n = \Omega_1 \cup T \cup \Omega_2$, where Ω_1, Ω_2, T are open sets,

$$\partial \Omega_i \subset T$$
, $d_i := \operatorname{dist}(\Omega_i \backslash T, \partial \Omega_i) > 0$, $i = 1, 2$,

and such that (2.20) is satisfied over Ω_1 and over Ω_2 separately.²³ Moreover, assume that there exist $K, M \geq 1$ such that $M \geq \sqrt{\mu}$, where $\mu = \mu(K)$ is fixed in (6.29), and

 $[\]overline{^{23}}$ There may be different admissible selections S_1 , S_2 which verify (2.21) over Ω_1 , Ω_2 respectively, but the coordinate system is fixed.

$$|\nabla \mathbf{B}(x)| \le Km^2(x, |\mathbf{B}| + 1), \quad \text{for each } x \in T + M, \tag{6.24}$$

where $T + M := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \operatorname{dist}(x, T) < M\}$. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{1}{u} |f|^2 \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |D_{\mathbf{a}} f|^2, \quad \text{for any } f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

where u is the landscape function for the operator (6.22) over \mathbb{R}^n .

T should be thought of as a "transition region" from Ω_1 to Ω_2 around which we assume that $\nabla \mathbf{B}$ is uniformly well-behaved.

Proof. Fix $f \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Let $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega_1)$ with $\varphi \equiv 1$ on $\Omega_1 \setminus T$, $0 \le \varphi \le 1$ on Ω_1 , and $|\nabla \varphi| \lesssim d_1^{-1}$. Since $D_{\mathbf{a}}(f\varphi) = \varphi_1 D_{\mathbf{a}} f + f \nabla \varphi$, we may obtain the estimate

$$\int_{\Omega_1 \setminus T} \frac{1}{u} |f|^2 \le C_n \left[\int_{\Omega_1} |D_{\mathbf{a}} f|^2 + \int_T d_1^{-1} m^2(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}|) |f|^2 \right], \tag{6.25}$$

similar as to how we obtained (2.24), and where we have used that $|\mathbf{B}| \geq 1$. Here, C_n is a constant depending only on dimension. We can obtain an analogous estimate with Ω_1 , d_1 replaced by Ω_2 , d_2 . Now, in the same manner as to how [75, estimate (2.13)] is achieved, we may see that

$$\int_{T} m^{2}(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}|)|f|^{2} \le C_{2} \left[\int_{T+1} |D_{\mathbf{a}}f|^{2} + \int_{T+1} \frac{|\mathbf{B}|^{2}}{m^{2}(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}|)} |f|^{2} \right], \tag{6.26}$$

where C_2 depends only on n and the $RH_{n/2}$ characteristic of $|\mathbf{B}|$. Next we fix $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}(T+M)$ with $0 \le \phi \le 1$, $\phi \equiv 1$ on T+1, and $|\nabla \phi| \lesssim 1/M$, and thus it may be proved that

$$\int_{T+1} \frac{|\mathbf{B}|^2}{m^2(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}|)} |f|^2 \le C_3 \left[\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |D_{\mathbf{a}}(f\phi)|^2 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |D_{\mathbf{a}}(f\phi)| |m(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}|)(f\phi)| \right], \tag{6.27}$$

in the same way as [75, estimate (2.12)] is shown. Here, C_3 depends on K from (6.24), n, and the $RH_{n/2}$ characteristic of $|\mathbf{B}|$. Putting (6.26) together with (6.27) and using the Cauchy inequality with a fixed $\varepsilon > 0$, we obtain that

$$\int\limits_{T} m^2(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}|)|f|^2 \leq \frac{C}{\varepsilon} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n} |D_{\mathbf{a}}f|^2 + \frac{C_4}{\varepsilon M^2} \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n} m^2(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}|)|f|^2 + \varepsilon \int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n} m^2(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}|)|f|^2. \quad (6.28)$$

Bringing the estimates (6.25), (6.28) together, and using Theorem 2.7, by choosing ε appropriately we may prove that

$$\int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n} m^2(\cdot,|\mathbf{B}|)|f|^2 \leq C\int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n} |D_{\mathbf{a}}f|^2 + \frac{C_5}{M^2}\int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n} m^2(\cdot,|\mathbf{B}|)|f|^2 + \frac{1}{4}\int\limits_{\mathbb{R}^n} m^2(\cdot,|\mathbf{B}|)|f|^2,$$

where C, C_5 depend on K, n, d_1, d_2 , and the $RH_{n/2}$ characteristic of $|\mathbf{B}|$. If we take

$$\mu = 4C_5,$$
 (6.29)

then we finally obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} m^2(\cdot, |\mathbf{B}|)|f|^2 \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |D_{\mathbf{a}}f|^2,$$

which yields the desired estimate by Theorem 2.7. \Box

Appendix A. Existence of Green's function as an integral kernel

In this appendix, we prove that, in the setting of Theorem 2.1, there always exists a Green's function (that is, an integral kernel for the solution operator L^{-1}) in the sense of Definition 3.8. The existence of Green's function has been considered by several authors under certain assumptions on the coefficients [18,24,40,46,50,51,60,65,72,79,81], but the purpose of our construction is to give a unified existence proof to the case where A is not necessarily symmetric, $0 \le V \in L^1_{\text{loc}}$ and $n \ge 1$. On the other hand, note that, for our purposes, we are satisfied with the existence of the Green's function, and we do not pursue stronger properties which have been proved for several cases in the aforementioned references, such as continuity of the Green's function or regularity of its gradient.

Our method is classical, relying on the Dunford-Pettis Theorem, but our very general assumptions on A and V require some technical care, as the solutions to $-\operatorname{div} A\nabla + V$ may not be continuous; however, the non-negativity assumption on V and the weak maximum principle will save the day.

Proposition A.1 (Existence of Green's function). Retain the setting of Theorem 2.1. Then the Green's function exists in the sense of Definition 3.8, and is unique. Moreover, for each bounded set $M \subset \Omega$ and each $p \in [1, \frac{n}{n-2})$ if $n \geq 3$ and $p \in [1, \infty)$ if n = 1, 2, we have that

$$\sup_{x \in M} \|G(x, \cdot)\|_{L^p(M)} < +\infty. \tag{A.1}$$

Proof. Fix $x_0 \in \Omega$ and $R_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ sufficiently large so that $\int_{M_{R_0}} V > 0$, $M_{R_0} := B(x_0, R_0) \cap \Omega$, fix $R > R_0$, and observe that M_R has Lipschitz boundary. We will show that for every $q > \max\{1, n/2\}$ and every $f \in L^q(M_R)$,

$$||L^{-1}f||_{L^{\infty}(M_R)} \lesssim ||f||_{L^q(M_R)}.$$
 (A.2)

Let $V_N := \min\{V, N\}$ for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $0 \le f \in L^q(M_R)$ for some $q > \max\{1, n/2\}$, and for each $N \in \mathbb{N}$, write $\psi_N = L_{V_N}^{-1} f$. By Lemma 3.5, we have that $\psi_N \searrow \psi := L_V^{-1} f$, and therefore by the global boundedness of weak solutions on bounded domains [39, Theorem 8.25],²⁴ we see that

$$\sup_{M_R} \psi \leq \sup_{M_R} \psi_1 \lesssim \|\psi_1\|_{L^2(M_{2R})} + \|f\|_{L^q(M_R)} \lesssim \|\psi_1\|_{\mathfrak{l}} + \|f\|_{L^q(M_R)} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^q(M_R)},$$

where we have used (3.4) and the Sobolev embedding, and the implicit constant depends only on n, λ , q, R, and M_R . Thus we have shown (A.2) for any $0 \le f \in L^q(M_R)$. Then we can obtain the general case $f \in L^q(M_R)$ by the weak maximum principle and using (A.2) for |f| (consider $L^{-1}(|f|-f)$, and as before, approximations via bounded potentials); we omit further details.

Thus the operator L^{-1} maps $L^q(M_R)$ into $L^{\infty}(M_R)$.²⁵ By the Dunford-Pettis Theorem (see [86, Theorem 46.1] or [15, Theorem 2]), it follows that L^{-1} has a unique integral kernel on M_R , and so there exists a measurable function $G_R: M_R \times M_R \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$(L^{-1}f)(x) = \int_{M_R} G_R(x,y) f(y) dy, \quad \text{for a.e. } x \in M_R,$$
 (A.3)

and if q' is the Hölder conjugate of q, then

$$\sup_{x \in M_R} \|G_R(x, \cdot)\|_{L^{q'}(M_R)} < +\infty.$$

Observe that if R' > R, then for every $x \in M_R$, $G_{R'}(x, \cdot)$ must coincide pointwise a.e. on M_R with $G_R(x, \cdot)$. From these facts, we deduce that there exists a measurable function $G: \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ such that for any q > n/2 and $f \in L^q_c(\Omega)$, the identity (3.5) holds, and furthermore, for each $x \in \Omega$ we have that $G(x, \cdot) \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$ for any $p \in [1, \frac{n}{n-2})$. The non-negativity follows immediately from the maximum principle. \square

References

- [1] S. Agmon, Lectures on Exponential Decay of Solutions of Second-Order Elliptic Equations: Bounds on Eigenfunctions of N-Body Schrödinger Operators, Mathematical Notes, vol. 29, Princeton University Press/University of Tokyo Press, Princeton, NJ/Tokyo, 1982.
- [2] A. Ancona, Une propriété d'invariance des ensembles absorbants par perturbation d'un opérateur elliptique, Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 4 (4) (1979) 321–337.
- [3] D. Arnold, M. Filoche, S. Mayboroda, W. Wang, S. Zhang, The landscape law for tight binding Hamiltonians, Commun. Math. Phys. 396 (3) (2022) 1339–1391.
- [4] D.N. Arnold, G. David, M. Filoche, D. Jerison, S. Mayboroda, Computing spectra without solving eigenvalue problems, SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 41 (1) (2019) B69–B92.
- [5] D.N. Arnold, G. David, M. Filoche, D. Jerison, S. Mayboroda, Localization of eigenfunctions via an effective potential, Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 44 (11) (2019) 1186–1216.

 $[\]overline{)^{24}}$ If n=1, the same desired result will follow from Morrey's inequality.

Or rather, a restriction of L^{-1} to M_R does.

- [6] P. Auscher, B. Ben Ali, Maximal inequalities and Riesz transform estimates on L^p spaces for Schrödinger operators with nonnegative potentials, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 57 (6) (2007) 1975–2013.
- [7] J. Avron, I. Herbst, B. Simon, Schrödinger operators with magnetic fields. I. General interactions, Duke Math. J. 45 (4) (1978) 847–883.
- [8] J. Bailey, Weights of exponential growth and decay for Schrödinger-type operators, J. Funct. Anal. 281 (1) (2021) 108996.
- [9] J. Bailey, A.J. Morris, M.C. Reguera, Unboundedness of potential dependent Riesz transforms for totally irregular measures, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 494 (1) (2021) 32.
- [10] S. Balasubramanian, Y. Liao, V. Galitski, Many-body localization landscape, Phys. Rev. B 101 (Jan 2020) 014201.
- [11] A. Balinsky, A. Laptev, A.V. Sobolev, Generalized Hardy inequality for the magnetic Dirichlet forms, J. Stat. Phys. 116 (1-4) (2004) 507-521.
- [12] B. Ben Ali, Maximal inequalities and Riesz transform estimates on L^p spaces for magnetic Schrödinger operators I, J. Funct. Anal. 259 (7) (2010) 1631–1672.
- [13] B. Ben Ali, Maximal inequalities and Riesz transform estimates on L^p spaces for magnetic Schrödinger operators II, Math. Z. 274 (1–2) (2013) 85–116.
- [14] P. Bénilan, H. Brezis, Nonlinear problems related to the Thomas-Fermi equation 3 (2003) 673–770, Dedicated to Philippe Bénilan.
- [15] J. Brüning, V. Geyler, K. Pankrashkin, Continuity properties of integral kernels associated with Schrödinger operators on manifolds, Ann. Henri Poincaré 8 (4) (2007) 781–816.
- [16] Y. Chalopin, F. Piazza, S. Mayboroda, C. Weisbuch, M. Filoche, Universality of fold-encoded localized vibrations in enzymes, Sci. Rep. 9 (1) (Sep 2019) 12835.
- [17] I. Chenn, W. Wang, S. Zhang, Approximating the ground state eigenvalue via the effective potential, Nonlinearity 35 (6) (2022) 3004–3035.
- [18] M. Christ, On the $\overline{\partial}$ equation in weighted L^2 norms in \mathbb{C}^1 , J. Geom. Anal. 1 (3) (1991) 193–230.
- [19] Y. Colin de Verdière, L'asymptotique de Weyl pour les bouteilles magnétiques, Commun. Math. Phys. 105 (2) (1986) 327–335.
- [20] Y. Colin de Verdière, N. Torki-Hamza, F. Truc, Essential self-adjointness for combinatorial Schrödinger operators III—magnetic fields, Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (6) 20 (3) (2011) 599–611.
- [21] Y. Colin de Verdière, F. Truc, Confining quantum particles with a purely magnetic field, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 60 (7) (2011) 2333–2356, p. 2010.
- [22] J.M. Combes, P.D. Hislop. Landau, Hamiltonians with random potentials: localization and the density of states, Commun. Math. Phys. 177 (3) (1996) 603–629.
- [23] H.D. Cornean, G. Nenciu, Two-dimensional magnetic Schrödinger operators: width of mini bands in the tight binding approximation, Ann. Henri Poincaré 1 (2) (2000) 203–222.
- [24] B. Davey, J. Hill, S. Mayboroda, Fundamental matrices and Green matrices for non-homogeneous elliptic systems, Publ. Mat. 62 (2) (2018) 537–614.
- [25] G. David, M. Filoche, S. Mayboroda, The landscape law for the integrated density of states, Adv. Math. 390 (2021) 107946.
- [26] P. Desforges, S. Mayboroda, S. Zhang, G. David, D.N. Arnold, W. Wang, M. Filoche, Sharp estimates for the integrated density of states in Anderson tight-binding models, Phys. Rev. A 104 (1) (2021) 012207.
- [27] L. Erdős, Gaussian decay of the magnetic eigenfunctions, Geom. Funct. Anal. 6 (2) (1996) 231–248.
- [28] L. Erdős, J.P. Solovej, Semiclassical eigenvalue estimates for the Pauli operator with strong non-homogeneous magnetic fields. I. Nonasymptotic Lieb-Thirring-type estimate, Duke Math. J. 96 (1) (1999) 127–173.
- [29] L. Erdős, J.P. Solovej, Magnetic Lieb-Thirring inequalities with optimal dependence on the field strength, J. Stat. Phys. 116 (1–4) (2004) 475–506.
- [30] L. Erdős, J.P. Solovej, Uniform Lieb-Thirring inequality for the three-dimensional Pauli operator with a strong non-homogeneous magnetic field, Ann. Henri Poincaré 5 (4) (2004) 671–741.
- [31] L. Erdos, D. Hasler, Wegner estimate and Anderson localization for random magnetic fields, Commun. Math. Phys. 309 (2) (2012) 507–542.
- [32] C.L. Fefferman, The uncertainty principle, Bull. Am. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 9 (2) (1983) 129–206.
- [33] M. Filoche, S. Mayboroda, Universal mechanism for Anderson and weak localization, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 109 (37) (2012) 14761–14766.
- [34] M. Filoche, S. Mayboroda, The landscape of Anderson localization in a disordered medium, in: Fractal Geometry and Dynamical Systems in Pure and Applied Mathematics. II. Fractals in Applied Mathematics, in: Contemp. Math., vol. 601, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2013, pp. 113–121.

- [35] M. Filoche, S. Mayboroda, T. Tao, The effective potential of an M-matrix, J. Math. Phys. 62 (4) (2021) 041902.
- [36] M. Filoche, M. Piccardo, Y.-R. Wu, C.-K. Li, C. Weisbuch, S. Mayboroda, Localization landscape theory of disorder in semiconductors. I. Theory and modeling, Phys. Rev. B 95 (Apr 2017) 144204.
- [37] G.B. Folland, Real analysis, in: Modern Techniques and Their Applications, second edition, in: Pure and Applied Mathematics (New York), John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1999, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [38] F. Ghribi, P.D. Hislop, F. Klopp, Localization for Schrödinger operators with random vector potentials, in: Adventures in Mathematical Physics, in: Contemp. Math., vol. 447, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2007, pp. 123–138.
- [39] D. Gilbarg, N.S. Trudinger, Elliptic Partial Differential Equations of Second Order, Classics in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001, Reprint of the 1998 edition.
- [40] M. Grüter, K.-O. Widman, The Green function for uniformly elliptic equations, Manuscr. Math. 37 (3) (1982) 303–342.
- [41] Q. Han, F. Lin, Elliptic Partial Differential Equations, Courant Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1, New York University, Courant Institute of Mathematical Sciences/American Mathematical Society, New York/Providence, RI, 1997.
- [42] E.M. Harrell II, A.V. Maltsev, Localization and landscape functions on quantum graphs, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 373 (3) (2020) 1701–1729.
- [43] B. Helffer, A. Mohamed, Caractérisation du spectre essentiel de l'opérateur de Schrödinger avec un champ magnétique, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 38 (2) (1988) 95–112.
- [44] B. Helffer, J. Nourrigat, Décroissance à l'infini des fonctions propres de l'opérateur de Schrödinger avec champ électromagnétique polynomial 58 (1992) 263–275, Festschrift on the occasion of the 70th birthday of Shmuel Agmon.
- [45] B. Helffer, Semi-Classical Analysis for the Schrödinger Operator and Applications, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1336, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1988.
- [46] S. Hofmann, S. Kim, The Green function estimates for strongly elliptic systems of second order, Manuscr. Math. 124 (2) (2007) 139–172.
- [47] T. Hupfer, H. Leschke, P. Müller, S. Warzel, Existence and uniqueness of the integrated density of states for Schrödinger operators with magnetic fields and unbounded random potentials, Rev. Math. Phys. 13 (12) (2001) 1547–1581.
- [48] V. Ivrii, Microlocal Analysis and Precise Spectral Asymptotics, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998.
- [49] T. Kato, Schrödinger operators with singular potentials, Isr. J. Math. 13 (1972) 135–148.
- [50] C.E. Kenig, W.-M. Ni, On the elliptic equation $Lu k + K \exp[2u] = 0$, Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa, Cl. Sci. (4) 12 (2) (1985) 191–224.
- [51] S. Kim, G. Sakellaris, Green's function for second order elliptic equations with singular lower order coefficients, Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 44 (3) (2019) 228–270.
- [52] F. Klopp, Lifshitz tails for alloy-type models in a constant magnetic field, J. Phys. A 43 (47) (2010) 474029.
- [53] F. Klopp, G. Raikov, Lifshitz tails in constant magnetic fields, Commun. Math. Phys. 267 (3) (2006) 669-701.
- [54] K. Kurata, An estimate on the heat kernel of magnetic Schrödinger operators and uniformly elliptic operators with non-negative potentials, J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 62 (3) (2000) 885–903.
- [55] K. Kurata, Existence and semi-classical limit of the least energy solution to a nonlinear Schrödinger equation with electromagnetic fields, Nonlinear Anal. 41 (5-6) (2000) 763–778.
- [56] K. Kurata, S. Sugano, A remark on estimates for uniformly elliptic operators on weighted L^p spaces and Morrey spaces, Math. Nachr. 209 (2000) 137–150.
- [57] G. Lefebvre, A. Gondel, M. Dubois, M. Atlan, F. Feppon, A. Labbé, C. Gillot, A. Garelli, M. Ernoult, S. Mayboroda, M. Filoche, P. Sebbah, One single static measurement predicts wave localization in complex structures, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (Aug 2016) 074301.
- [58] H. Leinfelder, C.G. Simader, Schrödinger operators with singular magnetic vector potentials, Math. Z. 176 (1) (1981) 1–19.
- [59] C.-K. Li, M. Piccardo, L.-S. Lu, S. Mayboroda, L. Martinelli, J. Peretti, J.S. Speck, C. Weisbuch, M. Filoche, Y.-R. Wu, Localization landscape theory of disorder in semiconductors. III. Application to carrier transport and recombination in light emitting diodes, Phys. Rev. B 95 (14) (2017) 144206.
- [60] W. Littman, G. Stampacchia, H.F. Weinberger, Regular points for elliptic equations with discontinuous coefficients, Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa, Cl. Sci. 3 (17) (1963) 43–77.

- [61] J. Lu, S. Steinerberger, Detecting localized eigenstates of linear operators, Res. Math. Sci. 5 (3) (2018) 33.
- [62] S. Mayboroda, B. Poggi, Exponential decay estimates for fundamental solutions of Schrödinger-type operators, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 372 (6) (2019) 4313–4357.
- [63] T. Mine, Y. Nomura, Schrödinger operators with random δ magnetic fields, Ann. Henri Poincaré 18 (4) (2017) 1349–1369.
- [64] A. Morris, A. Turner, Solvability for non-smooth Schrödinger equations with singular potentials and square integrable data, Preprint, arXiv:2001.11901, January 2020.
- [65] M. Mourgoglou, Regularity theory and Green's function for elliptic equations with lower order terms in unbounded domains, Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 62 (9) (2023) 266.
- [66] S. Nakamura, Gaussian decay estimates for the eigenfunctions of magnetic Schrödinger operators, Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 21 (5–6) (1996) 993–1006.
- [67] S. Nakamura, Lifshitz tail for Schrödinger operator with random magnetic field, Commun. Math. Phys. 214 (3) (2000) 565–572.
- [68] L. Orsina, A.C. Ponce, Strong maximum principle for Schrödinger operators with singular potential, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Anal. Non Linéaire 33 (2) (2016) 477–493.
- [69] L. Orsina, A.C. Ponce, On the nonexistence of Green's function and failure of the strong maximum principle, J. Math. Pures Appl. 9 (134) (2020) 72–121.
- [70] E.M. Ouhabaz, Analysis of Heat Equations on Domains, London Mathematical Society Monographs Series, vol. 31, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2005.
- [71] A.C. Ponce, N. Wilmet, Schrödinger operators involving singular potentials and measure data, J. Differ. Equ. 263 (6) (2017) 3581–3610.
- [72] G. Sakellaris, On scale-invariant bounds for the Green's function for second-order elliptic equations with lower-order coefficients and applications, Anal. PDE 14 (1) (2021) 251–299.
- [73] Z.W. Shen, On the Neumann problem for Schrödinger operators in Lipschitz domains, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 43 (1) (1994) 143–176.
- [74] Z.W. Shen, L^p estimates for Schrödinger operators with certain potentials, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 45 (2) (1995) 513–546.
- [75] Z. Shen, Eigenvalue asymptotics and exponential decay of eigenfunctions for Schrödinger operators with magnetic fields, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 348 (11) (1996) 4465–4488.
- [76] Z. Shen, Estimates in L^p for magnetic Schrödinger operators, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 45 (3) (1996) 817–841.
- [77] Z. Shen, On the number of negative eigenvalues for a Schrödinger operator with magnetic field, Commun. Math. Phys. 182 (3) (1996) 637–660.
- [78] Z. Shen, On bounds of $N(\lambda)$ for a magnetic Schrödinger operator, Duke Math. J. 94 (3) (1998) 479–507.
- [79] Z. Shen, On fundamental solutions of generalized Schrödinger operators, J. Funct. Anal. 167 (2) (1999) 521–564.
- [80] B. Simon, Maximal and minimal Schrödinger forms, J. Oper. Theory 1 (1) (1979) 37–47.
- [81] B. Simon, Schrödinger semigroups, Bull. Am. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 7 (3) (1982) 447–526.
- [82] H.F. Smith, Parametrix construction for a class of subelliptic differential operators, Duke Math. J. 63 (2) (1991) 343–354.
- [83] V. Sordoni, Gaussian decay for the eigenfunctions of a Schrödinger operator with magnetic field constant at infinity, Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 23 (1–2) (1998) 223–242.
- [84] S. Steinerberger, Localization of quantum states and landscape functions, Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 145 (7) (2017) 2895–2907.
- [85] S. Steinerberger, Regularized potentials of Schrödinger operators and a local landscape function, Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 46 (7) (2021) 1262–1279.
- [86] F. Treves, Topological Vector Spaces, Distributions and Kernels, Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY, 2006, Unabridged republication of the 1967 original.
- [87] F. Truc, Semi-classical asymptotics for magnetic bottles, Asymptot. Anal. 15 (3-4) (1997) 385-395.
- [88] W. Wang, S. Zhang, The exponential decay of eigenfunctions for tight-binding Hamiltonians via landscape and dual landscape functions, Ann. Henri Poincaré 22 (5) (2021) 1429–1457.
- [89] J. Zhong, Harmonic Analysis for Some Schroedinger Type Operators, Thesis (Ph.D.)-Princeton University, ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 1993.